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State of the Art: The Japanese Attacks on Hermes, Vampire, Hollyhock, Athelstane, British Sergeant and Norviken, 9 April 1942


Introduction

The Imperial Japanese Navy’s foray into the Indian Ocean in April 1942, “Operation C” (see Map 1), involved six carriers, four battleships, nine cruisers, 15 destroyers and six submarines. The smaller of the two surface forces, Malaya Force, sank 20 merchantmen in the Bay of Bengal in less than 24 hours and bombed two Indian ports, Vizagapatam and Cocanada. The larger force was Kidō Butai (KdB), the carrier task force led by Vice Admiral Chūichi Nagumo, which attacked Colombo on 5 April and Trincomalee on 9 April. Operation C was the largest and longest IJN operation between Pearl Harbor and Midway, but no comprehensive work on it has yet been written by any historian.1 

Two aspects of Operation C are comparatively well known, however. The first was the sinking on 5 April of the British heavy cruisers Cornwall and Dorsetshire in an attack by 53 D3A dive bombers. The second, the subject of this article, was the 9 April loss of the aircraft carrier HMS Hermes and its escort, the destroyer HMAS Vampire, in another devastating attack by KdB’s D3As. All the same, no really detailed account has ever been produced on this attack, during which four other ships were also sunk, namely the tankers British Sergeant and Athelstane, the corvette HMS Hollyhock and the Norwegian freighter Norviken, while a further seven ships in the vicinity escaped unscathed.

The Japanese dive bomber attacks on 5 and 9 April were among the most accurate of their kind, in fact possibly the most accurate. It was not for nothing that the author of a recent book on the D3A chose “Zenith in the Indian Ocean” as the title of his chapter on Operation C.2 These attacks could truly be called “state of the art”, and this article aims to provide a “state of the historic art” account of the Japanese attacks on Allied vessels south of Trincomalee on 9 April 1942, providing far more detail than in any previous account.
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Map 1 – Overview of Operation C 

Note:  Local time (Zone F, GMT+6) is used in this article and distances are in nautical miles.
The D3A

The D3A was the mainstay of the IJN’s dive bomber force from 1941 onwards and is reputed to have sunk more Allied warship tonnage that any other Axis aircraft. First entering service in China in late 1939, the D3A figured prominently in all the carrier battles of the first year of the Pacific War. 

The original D3A1 model was still in use during Operation C. Its maximum speed was 209 knots and its cruising speed was 160 knots. Standard bomb load was one 250kg bomb under the fuselage and one 30kg bomb under each wing, but on 9 April no wing bombs were carried. It had two forward-firing 7.7 mm machine guns on the engine cowling and one hand-held 7.7 mm machine gun in the rear cockpit. 
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The D3A1 of Lt Cdr Kakuichi Takahashi over Rabaul, 20 January 1942, armed with a 250kg “ordinary” bomb
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A D3A1 taking off from Zuikaku on 5 April to attack Colombo

The D3A was also known to the IJN as the Type 99 Carrier Bomber (kanjō bakugeki-ki, abbreviated to kanbaku.) The British often referred to it as the Navy 99. The US later introduced codenames for all known Japanese aircraft and under this system, also used by its allies, the D3A was known as the Val.3
8 April - KdB is Detected

After attacking Colombo and sinking Cornwall and Dorsetshire, Nagumo withdrew out of range of Ceylon-based search aircraft and made a wide sweep around the island, preparatory to attacking Trincomalee on 9 April. The Royal Air Force’s 222 Group, commanded by Air Vice Marshal John D’Albiac from a headquarters at Colombo, controlled the Ceylon-based air units and continued to use its small force of Catalina flying boats to search for the Japanese, with which contact had been lost on 5 April. By 7 April, 222 Group “considered that the Japanese warships operating in the Indian Ocean would rendezvous with those operating in the Bay of Bengal, and jointly attack Trincomalee. Consequently, a Catalina was ordered to carry out a cross over patrol at a depth of 400 miles east of Ceylon, covering an area from which the enemy might make an approach”.4 

This Catalina was 240 Squadron’s BN-K, captained by Flying Officer Round, which took off at 0200 on 
8 April. Round arrived on station around dawn and spent the day crisscrossing a box measuring 175 miles from north to south and 35 miles from east to west. This proved to be a shrewdly chosen search area, especially since BN-K was the only Catalina sent out on patrol on 8 April, because at 1507 Round reported sighting an enemy force of three battleships and one carrier steering 350 degrees at 6O 10’ North, 88O 49’ East, which was about 475 miles southeast of Trincomalee – and about 15 miles east of Round’s search box.5 

Round’s report was received ashore, the time of receipt being recorded as 1536, and passed to Vice Admiral Geoffrey Arbuthnot, Commander-in-Chief of the Royal Navy’s East Indies station and concurrently Deputy Commander-in-Chief of the Eastern Fleet, with his headquarters ashore at Colombo. Arbuthnot concluded that “a dawn air attack on either Trincomalee or Madras was to be expected” and decided that “important shipping” should be cleared from Trincomalee and “steered close in shore well down the coast where it was hoped it would escape observation”.6 

At 1728 Arbuthnot sent the order “All ships raise steam” to the Flag Officer in Charge at Trincomalee, Rear Admiral AFE Palliser. Then, at 1755, he ordered Palliser to sail Hermes, Vampire, minelayer HMS Teviot Bank, Royal Fleet Auxiliary (RFA) tanker Pearleaf, and Armament Stores Issuing Ships (ASIS) Bamora, Heron, Prome and Ting Sang “independently as convenient to the Southward close inshore so as to be not less than forty (40) miles from Trincomalee by 0001/Z [0601 local]. Ships are to return to harbour without further orders before 1000Z [1600 local]”. An hour later Arbuthnot amended this order by telling Palliser to “add H.M.S.HOLLYHOCK AND TANKERS”, the tankers being Athelstane and British Sergeant.7 

A twelfth ship was already due to sail but had not yet departed. This was the hospital ship Vita. On 
7 April, Admiral Sir James Somerville (promoted to that rank on 6 April), Commander-in-Chief of the Eastern Fleet, had asked for Vita to be sent from Trincomalee to Addu Atoll to embark casualties from Cornwall and Dorsetshire. Arbuthnot responded on 8 April at 1547 that “VITA leaves Trincomalee late p.m. 8/4 routed direct”, with “coal for 9 days steaming and 30 days harbour”.8

The 12 ships ordered to sea by Arbuthnot are listed in Table 1.

The British official history claims that “the harbour of Trincomalee was cleared of shipping”. This implies that it was cleared of all shipping, but it seems that in fact Arbuthnot sent away only the most valuable ships and those which might have done a lot of damage if they blew up. Left in the harbour were the unserviceable Dutch light cruiser Sumatra, the monitor Erebus, eight merchantmen, one Naval Stores Issuing Ship (NSIS), and a few small naval units.9 
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Table 1 – The 12 Ships Dispatched from Trincomalee 8-9 April 1942

	Ship
	Type
	Tons
	Year
	Speed
(knots)
	Time of 
Sailing 
	Fate

	RFA Pearleaf
	Tanker
	5911
	1917
	16
	
Before 2130?

	Not attacked

	Prome
	ASIS
	7043
	1937
	15
	
	Not attacked

	Bamora 
	ASIS
	3285
	1914
	13
	
	Not attacked

	Heron
	ASIS
	2373
	1937
	12.5
	
	Not attacked

	Ting Sang
	ASIS
	2256
	1922
	14
	
	Not attacked

	HMS Teviot Bank
	Minelayer
	5087
	1939
	15
	2130
	Not attacked

	Athelstane
	Tanker
	5571
	1918
	11
	0030?
	Sunk south of Hermes

	HMS Hollyhock
	Corvette
	925
	1940
	16
	0030?
	Sunk escorting Athelstane

	HMS Hermes
	Aircraft Carrier
	10,850
	1924
	24
	0100
	Sunk off Batticaloa

	HMAS Vampire
	Destroyer
	1188
	1917
	28
	0100
	Sunk escorting Hermes

	British Sergeant
	Tanker
	5868
	1922
	10.5
	0200
	Sunk north of Hermes

	HMHS Vita
	Hospital ship
	4691
	1914
	13.5
	0430?
	Not Attacked




How the 12 Ships Came to be at Trincimalee

Trincomalee has one of the largest natural harbours in the world. This, and its location astride the route from Suez to Singapore, ensured that it figured prominently in pre-war British planning.  To support the transit of a fleet to the Far East and to sustain operations in the Indian Ocean, the Royal Navy built at Trincomalee 101 oil tanks of 12,000 tons capacity, giving a total capacity of 1,212,000 tons – more than twice the 563,000 tons capacity of the 54 tanks in service at Pearl Harbor in December 1941. For its part the British Army installed two 9.2-inch and three 6-inch coast defence guns to defend the port, as well as a battery of 3-inch anti-aircraft guns, and the RAF station at China Bay was opened in August 1939.11

The war with Japan did not go as planned. By early March 1942, Singapore, Java and Rangoon had all been lost, and the Andamans were seized on 23 March. Ceylon was suddenly in the front line, and chock-a-block with ships of all sorts – British naval reinforcements, ships carrying ground forces for the defence of the island, escapees from Java, diverted merchantmen which had been on their way to destinations which fell before they reached them. Most of the merchantmen went to Colombo but some went to Trincomalee. As well, a secret anchorage codenamed Port T had been established at Addu Atoll in the Maldives, and much of the Eastern Fleet was operating from there, but Addu Atoll had no oil tanks and the tankers which had to be stationed there were supplied with oil shuttled in from Trincomalee. Thus it was that 8 April found the harbour at Trincomalee hosting 23 ships of various types, not counting auxiliaries and small naval patrol vessels.
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Map 2 – Areas controlled by Japan, mid-194212 
Vampire was a V & W class destroyer commissioned in 1917 and transferred to the Royal Australian Navy in 1933. She was sent to the Mediterranean in late 1939, and the first Australian killed in action during the war, Gunner J.H. Endicott, was mortally wounded by shrapnel aboard her on 11 July 1940, when the ship was straddled by bombs off Crete.

In May 1941, when accumulated defects started to cause vibrations at speeds above 16 knots, Vampire was sent to Singapore and refitted from June to November 1941. The refit and post-refit sea trials were never “properly finished off”, because Vampire was assigned to escort Prince of Wales and Repulse when they arrived on 2 December and was with them when they were sunk eight days later. 

Vampire continued to operate from Singapore until the end of January 1942, discovering during the Battle off Endau on 27 January that its post-refit maximum speed was 28 knots. It was then briefly employed escorting convoys in the Netherlands East Indies area before arriving at Colombo on 11 February. From then until it was lost it was employed almost exclusively as Hermes’ consort. 

Vampire’s anti-aircraft armament at the time of its loss consisted of one 12-pounder (3-inch) AA gun, two single 2-pounder pom-poms, two 20mm Oerlikons,  two twin Lewis guns and one Vickers .303-inch machine gun.

[image: http://www.navy.gov.au/sites/default/files/Vampire%20I%20%282%29.jpg]
HMAS Vampire, wearing her early wartime paint scheme while on service in the Mediterranean. 
The weapon abaft the rear funnel is a 12-pounder AA gun, installed at Alexandria in April 1941. 

[image: https://s3-ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/awm-media/collection/301605/screen/4094186.JPG]
Vampire between 5 December 1941 and 4 January 1942. The after torpedo tubes have been removed and the searchlight (not visible) moved forward. They have been replaced by a new but not yet occupied platform.  
Note the twin Lewis machine guns on the bridge wings.
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Vampire, 4 March 1942. The re-located searchlight is visible between the funnels and two single 2-pdr AA guns are now mounted en echelon on the new platform. The latter were installed on 5 January 1942 at Singapore.   
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This rarely seen image of Vampire was taken after 5 January 1942, since the pom-poms installed on that date are in place. The location is probably Trincomalee but may be Ratai Bay, which Vampire visited 20-21 January.

Designed for an earlier war and a different environment, by 1942 Vampire was an old and tired ship. It is hard to argue with the conclusion of The War at Sea that it was obsolete.13 

Hermes was the first purpose-built British carrier. Her overall design was successful but she proved to be too small to be very useful and was in fact paid off into the Reserve Fleet in June 1937. Few observers ever expected to see her employed operationally again, but with war looming Hermes was brought back into service in August 1939, with just one flying unit, 814 Squadron, with 12 Swordfish.  

[image: http://www.roll-of-honour.com/Ships/images/HMSHermes.jpg]Hermes in 1924. The three 4-inch Mark V AA guns are visible, two ahead of the bridge and one aft of it. Three 
of the six 5.5-inch Mark I low angle guns, impotent against dive bombers, can be seen below the flight deck.
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Hermes at Trincomalee shortly before her loss. Apart from the installation of a Type 72 aircraft homing beacon at her masthead and the addition of a few light anti-aircraft guns, her profile has changed very little since 1924.

[image: https://blueprintsofwarships.com.pl/Tlo/Tlo_112_colour.jpg]
Hermes as she is believed to have appeared in 1942. The blue arrows point to
the .5-inch machine guns, the red to what appear to be 20mm Oerlikons.

Hermes was refitting at Simonstown on 7 December 1941. She arrived at Colombo on 14 February and five days later sailed for Fremantle, with Vampire, to join the newly formed ANZAC command. However, on 21 February the two ships were diverted to Trincomalee, to escort convoys carrying Australian troops home from the Middle East. On 21 March, Hermes and Vampire were ordered to sail on 24 March, again to join the ANZAC command, but on 23 March the plan changed once more: Hermes and Vampire were ordered to remain at Trincomalee till further orders, “In consequence of Orders for Operation IRONCLAD (Capture of Diego Suarez) for which they might be required”.

Hermes and Vampire were still at Trincomalee on 29 March, when Somerville, who assumed command of the Eastern Fleet on 26 March, was warned that a Japanese task force was  on its way and was expected to attack Colombo as early as 1 April. Deciding to ambush the Japanese, Somerville ordered the Eastern Fleet ships located at Colombo, Trincomalee and Addu Atoll to assemble south of Ceylon, and Hermes and Vampire sailed at 1430 on 30 March. The 28 ships rendezvoused at 1600 on 31 March, Somerville marking the occasion by signalling “So this is the Eastern Fleet. Never mind, many a good tune is played on an old fiddle.” 

Somerville waited in ambush south of Ceylon for the next two days, but by 2100 hours on 2 April, having seen no sign of the Japanese, he decided that their attack had likely been delayed or cancelled. He could not keep his fleet at sea much longer in any case, as his four R-class battleships could not produce enough fresh water for their boilers for more than a very few days. He therefore led the fleet to Addu Atoll to replenish, however he detached Cornwall and Dorsetshire to Colombo, the former to escort a troop convoy, the latter to resume a refit, and sent Hermes and Vampire to Trincomalee, to resume preparations for their participation in Operation Ironclad. Hermes and Vampire were due to rendezvous with the Ironclad naval forces off Madagascar by not later than 3 May. 

Hermes and Vampire were detached from the Eastern Fleet at 0940 on 3 April and arrived at Trincomalee the next day, all serviceable Swordfish flying off to operate ashore. 814 Squadron was never re-embarked, although one or two unserviceable Swordfish may have been in her hangar when she was lost, as some sources claim.   

No sooner had the two ships arrived than they were ordered to sea again, for at 1600 on 4 April a Catalina of the RCAF’s 413 Squadron detected KdB approaching Ceylon. Anticipating that Colombo and Trincomalee would be attacked the next morning, Arbuthnot ordered Hermes and Vampire to sail on completion of fuelling and proceed to the northeastward. They departed at 0200 on 5 April. At 1121, following the attack on Colombo, Arbuthnot ordered them to return to Trincomalee and they remained there until 8 April.

Hermes’ anti-aircraft armament was feeble, consisting at the time of her loss of three 4-inch guns, two quadruple .5-inch machine guns and a few (perhaps six) 20mm Oerlikons. She had no radar.14 
Teviot Bank[image: C:\Users\Robert\Desktop\HMS%20TEVIOTBANK-ML-1TZ.jpg]


Teviot Bank was a merchant vessel requisitioned in November 1939 for service as an auxiliary minelayer and commissioned in the Royal Navy as HMS Teviot Bank. The outbreak of war with Japan found her based at Singapore but in January 1942 she was “ordered to Trincomalee for mining operations under Commander in Chief East Indies.  In view of her slow speed and inadequate armament it was felt she was better employed there than in Netherlands East Indies waters.” 

Teviot Bank arrived at Trincomalee on 15 January and carried out a number of mining operations during the next two months. She became the only minelayer in the theatre on 1 February, when the fast cruiser minelayer HMS Abdiel damaged its port shaft and had to head to the UK for repairs.

 On 4 April, Teviot Bank was laying mines in the Palk Strait, between the north coast of Ceylon and the Indian mainland, when KdB was detected, and Arbuthnot ordered her to proceed to the northward, to avoid being caught by Japanese aircraft the next morning. By 8 April she was back at Trincomalee, apparently awaiting orders, with at least a partial load of mines aboard. Her anti-aircraft armament consisted of one 12-pounder and four .5-inch machine guns.15

[image: HMS Hollyhock at Trincomalee in March 1942. Photograph by kind permission of Mr Tommy Thompson]
HMS Hollyhock at Trincomalee in March 1942

Hollyhock, a Flower-class corvette, was commissioned in November 1940 and spent 1941 on escort duty in the Atlantic. She was transferred to Arbuthnot’s command after Japan entered the war, arriving at Colombo on 23 February. Hollyhock spent most of March on escort duties. Early April found her escorting Teviot Bank in the Palk Strait. Hollyhock accompanied Teviot Bank during its 4-5 April diversion to the north and then back to Trincomalee, where it lay on 8 April. 

Hollyhock’s only AA weapons were one 2-pdr pom-pom and one .303 machine gun. Its two twin Lewis guns had been removed and pedestals for 20mm Oerlikons installed but the guns themselves were not yet in place.16
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British Sergeant
British Sergeant was employed from 1939 to 1941 in the Red Sea and Mediterranean area, running fuel from Abadan to Suez, Port Said, Alexandria and elsewhere. Her routine changed with the coming of war with Japan. In March 1942 she was deployed to Trincomalee and soon completed two round trips to Colombo, transferring fuel from the Trincomalee tank farm to the smaller facility at Colombo. Her third trip found her at Colombo on 5 April when the Japanese attacked. Undamaged, she sailed from Colombo for Trincomalee on 6 April and arrived by 1500 on 8 April. The ballast had been discharged and the crew was preparing to load another cargo of oil when the order to sail was received at 2000. 

British Sergeant’s anti-aircraft armament consisted of one 12-pounder, two Marlin machine guns, two twin Lewis guns, two PAC (Parachute And Cable) systems and two or more kites.17 

[image: athelfoam_1918.gif]
Athelstane, when still named Athelfoam

The second tanker, Athelstane, was likewise employed from 1939 onward carrying fuel from Abadan to various destinations, mostly in the Red Sea and Indian Ocean. She left Abadan for the last time on 7 March 1942 and arrived at Colombo on 19 March. She sailed the next day, presumably without discharging any fuel, and arrived at Addu Atoll on 24 March. Much of the Eastern Fleet was then based at Addu Atoll, including the carrier Indomitable, the battleships Resolution, Revenge, Ramillies and Royal Sovereign, and nine destroyers. Athelstane departed after four days, during which her cargo was presumably discharged into the warships or other tankers.

Athelstane arrived at Trincomalee on 6 April and was apparently loaded again during the next 48 hours, for she was carrying 7,000 tons of Admiralty fuel oil when she sailed early on 9 April. In fact, her orders were to take her cargo to Colombo, rather than to return to Trincomalee after the impending raid. She had no anti-aircraft armament, apart from two of the nearly useless PAC systems.

Athelstane is sometimes wrongly described as a Royal Fleet Auxiliary, but it was a commercial vessel.18
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RFA Pearleaf

The third tanker, Pearleaf, belonged to the Royal Fleet Auxiliary (RFA). RFA vessels were owned by the Admiralty, but were manned by civilians enrolled in the RFA and supported the Royal Navy without being a direct part of it. Ordered by the Admiralty in 1915, Pearleaf was designed to serve as a fleet attendant tanker. November 1941 found her at Addu Atoll and she was likely the tanker which refueled Prince of Wales, Electra and Express when they called there at the end of the month on their ill-fated passage to Singapore. From December 1941 to April 1942 she made several runs from Trincomalee, carrying fuel from its tank farm to Colombo and Addu Atoll. Pearleaf was back at Trincomalee on 8 April, having arrived there a few days previously from her latest visit to Addu Atoll.19 It is likely that she had a full load of fuel, given that she had been present long enough to be loaded.  
Prome, Heron, Bamora and Ting Sang were among the many merchant vessels requisitioned by the Admiralty to perform various support functions. Prome was requisitioned in 1940 for service as a mine depot ship but little other information about these four ships has been found, other than their vital statistics (displacement and year completed) and the fact that the winds of war had carried them all to Trincomalee by 8 April.20 
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Prome
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Heron
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Bamora
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Ting Sang (also rendered “Tingsang”)
Built as a passenger ship, Vita was requisitioned and converted in 1940, with accommodation for 240 patients. After acting as the base hospital ship at Aden, Vita was sent to the Mediterranean in March 1941. In April, white paint and red crosses notwithstanding, she was attacked and disabled by German dive bombers off Tobruk, while carrying 430 casualties, and was under repair until early August. 

The opening of the war with Japan found Vita at Addu Atoll, where a Royal Marines unit known as Mobile Naval Base Defence Organization I (MNBDO I) had been labouring on the atoll’s defences for several weeks. Many of the marines had contracted malaria and “an obscure pyrexial illness which later proved to be scrub typhus”.  Vita was sent to assist and was at Addu Atoll from 20 November until the end of December.  She arrived at Colombo on 1 January with “a full complement of sick” from Addu Atoll, landed them, and sailed for Trincomalee the same day, arriving there on 3 January.

The history of the Royal Navy’s medical service states that Vita served as the base hospital ship at Trincomalee, but was handicapped by being coal-fired. She needed to be coaled every three to four weeks if required to remain at less than 24 hours’ notice for steam, or every two months if not required to be at less than 24 hours’ notice for steam. It was apparently not possible to coal Vita at Trincomalee, for she was absent from 5 to 13 March to coal at Madras. However, it appears that Vita remained at Trincomalee from 3 January to 8 April except for this coaling trip, the timing of which suggests that she was not kept in readiness to sail on less than 24 hours’ notice.21      
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A shot of Vita said to have been taken “off Trincomalee” Shortly before 9 April 194222 

Unlucky 13

The Norwegian freighter Norviken (2924 tons, 11 knots, completed 1925) was on her way from Hong Kong to Saigon when the Germans invaded Norway on 9 April, 1940 – exactly two years before her loss. Norviken remained in the Far East, operating between Hong Kong, Singapore and Rangoon until late 1941. Thereafter it plied between various ports in Persia, India and Ceylon. Norviken departed Madras for Bombay, in ballast, at 2200 on 6 April 1942. It did not call at Trincomalee and was simply unlucky enough to find itself passing near Hermes on the morning of 9 April. It seems to have been armed with nothing more than two machine guns.23
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Norviken
Too Few, Too Feeble, Too Old or Too Odd: The Victims’ Principal Anti-Aircraft Weapons
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	Ineffective against a D3A: At left are two 4-inch Mk V guns, on HMAS Sydney. Hermes had three of these. 
At right is a quadruple .5-inch machine gun, on HMIS Sutlej.  Hermes carried two of these.
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	Better bets: At left is a 2-pounder Mk VIII on a corvette. Hollyhock had one of these and Vampire had two. 
At right is a 20mm Oerlikon. Hermes had up to six. Hollyhock should have had two.    
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	Feeble: At left is one of the two .303-inch twin Lewis guns on British Sergeant, with Third Officer Eric Pointon. 
Useless: At right is the Parachute and Cable (PAC) system, carried by British Sergeant and Athelstane.24





8-9 April - The Allied Ships Head South

The senior surviving officers from Hermes, Vampire and Hollyhock submitted after action reports, as did the masters of Athelstane and British Sergeant, and Norviken’s first mate. For Hermes and Vampire we also have a track chart (Map 3) from a 22 April report from Arbuthnot.25 From these and other sources a timeline (Appendix  1) of the key events concerning the ships sunk on 9 April has been compiled.

The departure times for Pearleaf, Bamora, Heron, Prome and Ting Sang are not known, but since the accounts from the ships which were sunk do not note sighting them, they may have sailed first and remained out of sight, well ahead and beyond the southern horizon.

Teviot Bank sailed at 2130, the earliest sailing for which the time is known. It left with at least four of its libertymen still ashore. These individuals heard and heeded the recall but arrived at the jetty after their ship had sailed and were unlucky enough to be taken aboard Hermes instead.26 

The next to depart were Athelstane and Hollyhock, which sailed in company for Colombo at either 0030 or 0100, making 9 knots. (The two sources which give a time disagree.)27

When Arbuthnot’s orders were received aboard Hermes, either Captain Onslow decided that he did not need to sail immediately to comply with them, or he could not do so, due to the need to recall liberty men granted shore leave, and/or because the boilers in the after boiler room were being cleaned. In any case, Hermes and Vampire did not clear the boom until 0100, almost 10 hours after KdB was sighted.
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Map 3 – Track Chart for Hermes and Vampire
After sailing at 0100, Hermes steered east at 17 knots for about an hour, and turned south only then. At 0530 she reached 7O 40’ North, turned toward the coast and slowed to 8 knots. After reaching the 20 fathom line Hermes turned south again but apparently continued at only 8 knots until 0900. 

According to his navigator, before sailing Onslow asked for Fulmar fighter protection at daybreak, when he planned to be at 7O 40’ North. There is no other record of this request, but it seems possible that Onslow may have tarried at this latitude in the hope that a fighter umbrella would be provided. 

Thus was Hermes, a ship capable of 24 knots, only some 60 miles south of Trincomalee eight hours after leaving it.28 

British Sergeant, which was empty, had to take on ballast before sailing and thus did not depart until 0200, leaving her barely enough time to be 40 miles to the south by dawn, even at her best speed.29 

Vita may have sailed as late as 0430, since she was only as far south as Batticaloa at 1030. As previously noted, Vita was apparently not kept in readiness to sail on less than 24 hours’ notice and this probably delayed her departure and led to her being near Hermes and Vampire when they were sunk. Had she been oil fired, she probably would have sailed much earlier and been much further to the south.            

9 April - KdB Finds Hermes

By first light on 9 April, KdB was about 200 miles off Trincomalee. It consisted of the carriers Akagi, Soryu, Hiryu, Shokaku and Zuikaku, battleships Kongo, Hiei, Haruna and Kirishima, heavy cruisers Tone and Chikuma, light cruiser Abukuma, and eight destroyers. The five carriers had 268 aircraft.

Table 2 – KdB’s Carrier-based Aircraft, 9 April 194230

	
	A6M2 “Zero” Fighters
	D3A1 “Val”
Dive Bombers
	B5N2 “Kate” Torpedo Bombers
	Total

	Akagi
	19
	17
	18
	54

	Soryu
	19
	18
	18
	55

	Hiryu
	18
	18
	18
	54

	Shokaku
	18
	18
	19
	55

	Zuikaku
	18
	14
	18
	50

	
	92
	85
	91
	268



KdB began launching the Trincomalee strike group at about 0600. It consisted of the 91 B5Ns, employed on this occasion exclusively as level bombers, and 41 Zeros. It was unusual that no dive bombers were included. On 5 April about half of the D3As and B5Ns were sent to attack Colombo while the rest were held back as a reserve with both D3As and B5Ns, and the same was to be done on 4 June when Midway was attacked. But on this day Nagumo sent all his B5Ns to attack Trincomalee and held back all his D3As. 
	
Nagumo also had at his disposal the floatplanes carried by his cruisers and battleships. As shown in Table 3, they are believed to have totalled 23.    

Table 3 – KdB’s Floatplanes, 9 April 194231

	
	E7K2 “Alf”
	E8N2 “Dave”
	E13A1 “Jake”
	Total

	Abukuma
	1
	
	
	1

	Chikuma
	1
	3
	1
	5

	Tone
	1
	3
	1
	5

	Kongo
	
	3
	
	3

	Haruna
	
	3
	
	3

	Kirishima
	
	3
	
	3

	Hiei
	
	3
	
	3

	
	3
	18
	2
	23



Nagumo sent seven floatplanes to fly the searches shown in Map 4. The first one off was the aircraft assigned to search line 5, an E13A from Tone or Chikuma launched perhaps as early as 0400. It was ordered to make a weather reconnaissance of Trincomalee about 30 minutes before sunrise, and then to reconnoitre the Palk Strait area. The other six were launched at 0600.32

The Aichi E13A1, introduced in 1940 and also designated the Navy Type 0 Reconnaissance Seaplane, was very successful, with the original model remaining in production for almost four years without modification. It had a maximum speed of about 200 knots, a cruising speed of 120 knots and a maximum endurance of almost 15 hours.33 It was unfortunate for KdB that it had only two of these excellent machines during Operation C, although, so far as is known, the second E13A flew no mission on 9 April. 
[image: http://4.bp.blogspot.com/-q41n6RygPt8/TiuR-tfDglI/AAAAAAABMKk/5TWhULnqV5Q/s1600/jake-bia.jpg]
An Aichi E13A34

Two of the search lines were flown by Kawanishi E7K2s, which were also known to the IJN as the Navy Type 94 Reconnaissance Seaplane and later codenamed Alf by Japan’s enemies. Adopted in 1934, production of the E7K ceased in 1941 and it was withdrawn from front line service early in 1943, but in the meantime it had to soldier on. Compared with the E13A, its maximum speed was 50 knots less and its cruising speed 20 knots less, but its endurance, more than 11 hours, was very respectable.

Abukuma’s E7K flew search line 2. Tone or Chikuma, presumably whichever of them did not dispatch the E13A on search line 5, provided the E7K which flew search line 3. 

	[image: Kawanishi E7K]
	[image: Image result for "美濃部正"]

	A Kawanishi E7K2, with an E8N1 in the background, and Lt Tadashi Minobe, commander of  Abukuma’s E7K.35



Search lines 1, 4, 6 and 7 were flown by Nakajima E8Ns from Nagumo’s battleships, but it is not known which battleship provided which plane, except that Haruna’s Number 3 plane was assigned to fly search line 4. Adopted in 1935 and out of production since 1940, the E8N had the same low cruising speed, 100 knots, as the E7K, but a range of only 485 nautical miles. It was inferior to the E7K and E13A, and to the B5N, but there were too few E7Ks and E13As to assign one to every search leg, and it was KdB’s usual practice to reserve all B5Ns for offensive missions. 

[image: http://www.airwar.ru/image/idop/sww2/e8n/e8n-11.jpg]
A Nakajima E8N floatplane about to be catapulted from an unidentified Japanese warship36
[image: ]
Map 4 – KdB’s approach to Trincomalee and its 9 April air search legs37 

Haruna 3 was ordered to fly an outward leg of 150 miles on a course of 235 degrees, turn right and fly a 50 mile dog leg up the southeast coast of Ceylon, and then return to the ship. With its 100 knot cruising speed, Haruna 3 would arrive at the end of its outward leg 90 minutes after launch, i.e., at about 0730, and at the end of its dog leg by 0800. The latter point was about 30 miles off Batticaloa, and at 0800, following Arbuthnot’s orders, Hermes was perambulating about 15 miles southeast of Batticaloa. It was almost inevitable that Haruna 3 would sight Hermes before it reached the end of its dog leg, and, sure enough, at 0755 it sang out with this sighting report, in plain language: 

Enemy carrier Hermes and three destroyers 250 degrees, 155 miles from [my] starting point.38   

Aboard Akagi, Hermes’ position was plotted as being 70 miles and 147 degrees from Trincomalee, and within 10 miles of the coast, which was accurate enough. Haruna 3’s report did not give Hermes’ course or speed, but on Akagi’s bridge it was apparently inferred that the enemy carrier was “fleeing southward”. Hermes was indeed heading southward when sighted, but a 24 knot ship proceeding at 8 knots could hardly be described as “fleeing”.39        

It has already been noted that Onslow had been ordered to be “not less than” 40 miles south of Trincomalee by 0600. He would have been in compliance with the letter of his orders if he had been no more than 40 miles south of Trincomalee at 0755, rather than 65 or 70 miles south of it. Since Haruna 3 must have been very near the end of its dog leg at 0755, its seems at least possible that if Hermes had indeed been only 40 miles from Trincomalee she may have still been over the northern horizon from Haruna 3 when it reached the end of its dog leg at 0800 and may thus have escaped detection. At the same time, Hermes could have been much further away and out of sight from any of Nagumo’s scouts had it been ordered to get as far from Trincomalee as possible. In the event, however, Hermes found itself within the narrow 30 minute by 50 mile window when Haruna 3 flew along the Ceylonese coast.         

It is not surprising that the Japanese airmen recognized Hermes. As the first purpose-built British carrier, Hermes was well known internationally, and in fact had visited Japan before the war. During her final visit, in 1937, she spent two weeks at Kobe, four days at Kagoshima and five days at Nagasaki, so it can be assumed that IJN ship recognition books had accurate details on Hermes. Furthermore, Japanese intelligence placed her in the Indian Ocean area.40  

It is only a little surprising that Haruna 3 reported sighting three destroyers. One of them was obviously Vampire, but there were no other destroyers in the area. The two additional “destroyers” must have been Hollyhock and Athelstane, which would have been only six miles east-south-east of Hermes and Vampire at 0755. Mistaking a corvette for a destroyer was not a huge error. Mistaking a tanker of almost 5,600 tons for a 1,200 ton destroyer was less excusable, but Japanese floatplane crews were fairly hit or miss when it came to ship identification. On 5 April the crew of Abukuma’s floatplane had identified the 10,000 ton heavy cruisers Cornwall and Dorsetshire as destroyers.   

The report submitted by Vampire’s first lieutenant, Lt Eric J. Peel, records that a Fulmar arrived over Hermes and Vampire at 0610 and escorted them until it departed at 0730. While there is no direct corroboration of this, it is known that one of four Fulmars dispatched from China Bay on search missions early in the morning failed to return. This aircraft was flown by Flying Officer AM Gregg of 273 Squadron, with Sub-Lieutenant AL Mass from 814 Squadron as his observer, and its wreckage was eventually found in jungle just inland from Foul Point.41 It is at least conceivable that it was Gregg and Mass who Peel spotted over Hermes but, being killed during their return flight, they were unable to report that they had done so. In any case, if it is correct that this or another Fulmar was present until 0730, then it missed a chance to shoot down Haruna 3, perhaps before it transmitted its sighting report, by 25 minutes or less. It would have been impossible for a fighter umbrella strong enough to defend Hermes to have been put over it, but there seems to be no reason why Arbuthnot and D’Albiac, who had a joint operations room at Colombo, could not have had relays of Fulmars patrolling over Hermes from dawn onwards to shoot down snoopers, especially since Onslow reportedly asked for Fulmars to be provided.

KdB Launches its D3As

Nagumo wasted no time in ordering his 85 dive bombers to attack Hermes. Akagi started launching at 0843, only 48 minutes after Haruna 3 sent its sighting report, and Hiryu, Shokaku and Zuikaku started launching at 0845. For unknown reasons Soryu’s aircraft did not get off until eight minutes later, at 0853. An escort of nine Zeros was provided. Lt Cdr Kakuichi Takahashi, from Shokaku, led the strike. 

Table 4 – Takahashi’s Strike Group

	
	Fighters
	Dive Bombers
	Total

	Akagi
	3
	17
	20

	Soryu
	3
	18
	21

	Hiryu
	3
	18
	21

	Shokaku
	-
	18
	18

	Zuikaku
	-
	14
	14

	
	9
	85
	94



Up until 5 April, D3As sent to attack ships were always armed with the Type 99 No. 25 250kg “ordinary” (i.e., Semi-Armour Piercing) bomb. However, the aircraft sent to attack Cornwall and Dorsetshire were dispatched so hastily that some were still armed with Type 98 No. 25 242kg “land” (High Explosive) bombs with which they had been loaded for an intended second strike on Colombo. Rather to their surprise, the Japanese found that the HE bombs were very effective in suppressing the ships’ anti-aircraft fire. So, for the attack on Hermes six of Hiryu’s dive bombers were armed with the Type 98 bomb. The remaining 79 carried Type 99 bombs as usual.42

At 0853, Haruna 3 sent out, also in plain language, what was evidently its final report:

Enemy carrier bearing 160 degrees from Batticaloa, distance 20 nm, course n/a.43

It is a safe bet that Haruna 3 left the scene immediately after sending this report, as no further reports are known to have been sent by it. The E8N had an endurance of less than five hours at normal cruising speed and by 0853 Haruna 3 had already been airborne for almost three hours. 

It is also a safe bet that KdB had no aircraft standing by to quickly take off and relieve any low endurance scout which sighted an enemy force. The E13A had a cruising speed of 120 knots, and if the one held back from the early morning search had been launched by say 0810 to relieve Haruna 3, it could likely have arrived by around 0930, but this appears not to have been done. Instead,  Abukuma’s E7K, flying search line 2, seems to have headed for Hermes upon reaching the end of its own dog leg at about 0820. The E7K had a much longer endurance than the E8N but the same cruising speed, 100 knots, and Abukuma’s E7K was about 150 miles from Hermes when it reached the end of its dog leg at about 0820. It could not have arrived much before 0950.   

Having heard an “Air Raid Green” (all clear) broadcast from Trincomalee at 0840, Hermes and Vampire reversed course at 0900 and headed north for Trincomalee, probably at 11 knots, apparently unseen by any Japanese eyes.44 

Neither Hermes nor Vampire spotted Haruna 3 during the hour it spend shadowing them, due to having no radar and, one supposes, to the Japanese airmen taking full advantage of the scattered cloud cover. Those three airmen earned their pay on this date, ship misidentification issues notwithstanding.
The British Scramble

The British remained in ignorance of Haruna 3’s presence until the signals intelligence unit at Colombo, HMS Anderson, intercepted its 0853 transmission. It was recognized as a sighting report for Hermes and by 0930 a warning was telephoned to Arbuthnot’s headquarters.45 

The British now scrambled like mad to save Hermes. At 0940 Arbuthnot  warned Onslow that he had been sighted by the enemy, and at 0953 ordered him to proceed to Trincomalee “with utmost dispatch”. (The claim by some authors that Onslow called for aid “When the first D3As had appeared overhead”46 
is nonsense.) Onslow, already heading north but probably at only 11 knots, went to full speed, 24 knots.

At 0955, 222 Group ordered China Bay to provide “such fighter support as situation will permit”, but many communication links had been knocked out during the week’s raids. It was not until 1050 that China Bay, which was down to only six serviceable Hurricanes, sent four of them to defend Hermes – and recalled them at 1106, due to an air raid warning at Trincomalee which proved to be a false alarm. 

At 1005, 222 Group sent the following order to Ratmalana, the main air base in the Colombo area: 

Seven (7) Fulmars to leave immediately to carry out patrol over H.M.S. Hermes off BATTICOLOA.  ATTACK BY E.A. EXPECTED. Further seven (7) Fulmars to leave one hour later same role. Endeavour establish R/T China Bay when airborne.  China Bay to take all possible action with Hurricanes. H.M.S. HERMES making for Trincomalee.On completion patrol A/C to land China Bay and refuel.47

This order had to be send by dispatch rider and did not arrive until 1030. It was not until 1100 that the first group, eight Fulmars from the Royal Navy’s  803 and 806 Naval Air Squadrons (NAS), took off.

The decision not to send all 14 Fulmars right away was likely due to uncertainty about how soon Hermes might be attacked. Two misapprehensions probably played a role in this. The first was the belief that Hermes was not sighted until 0853, when in fact it was sighted at 0755 and KdB had already had an hour to prepare a strike. The second was Arbuthnot’s belief, discussed below, that Hermes could not be attacked until the Trincomalee strike force had returned and been refueled, re-armed and re-launched.  

Six Fulmars from 273 Squadron were also dispatched from Kokkilai, a satellite field 35 miles northwest of China Bay. Based on their time of arrival off Batticaloa, they may have left the ground at about 1120.

Scratch One Allied Flattop

Takahashi’s force flew an outward course of 239 degrees, as shown on Map 4.They arrived at Hermes’ anticipated position south of Batticaloa at 0950, but by then Hermes was out of sight beyond the northern horizon. Takahashi turned south and led his force in that direction for some 40 miles. Finding no carrier, he reversed course and finally spotted Hermes at 1030 – a delay of 40 minutes.48 

[image: ]
Map 4 – Track Chart for Hiryu’s Dive Bombers49
The timings are given in JST, which was three hours ahead of local time, e.g. 1250 = 0950 in local time 
The fact that Takahashi did not alter to a more northerly course while in route tends to confirm that no Japanese floatplane sent any reports on the targets’ movements between 0853 and 0950. The failure of KdB’s reconnaissance assets to maintain contact with Hermes and send updates on its movements thus delayed the attack by 40 minutes. As will be seen below, this delay led to the only losses sustained by Takahashi’s strike force. 

Takahashi gave the order to attack at about 1035 and at 1040 he dropped the first bomb himself, scoring a hit on Hermes’ flightdeck. The rest of Shokaku’s D3As followed him down, claiming another 12 hits, for a total of 13 hits out of 18 bombs dropped. Zuikaku’s aircraft started their attack at 1045, claiming 13 hits out of 14 bombs dropped. Hiryu’s D3As began their attack next, probably at about 1050, but by time the first 11 of them had dropped their bombs, claiming 9 hits, Hermes was clearly doomed and the rest of Hiryu’s contingent saved their bombs for other targets. Nevertheless, two D3As from Akagi also attacked Hermes, both claiming hits.50 
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This sketch depicts the locations of the nine hits and two near misses on Hermes claimed by Hiryu’s D3A crews. 














Bombs 10, 13, 14 and 15 from Hiryu were aimed at Vampire. The dropping of bombs 11 & 12 on Hermes implies that the two attacks may have overlapped.













Hiryu’s last three bombs, numbers 16, 17 and 18, were all claimed as direct hits on British Sergeant.


Hiryu Bomb Plot. These sketches show the bombing results claimed by Hiryu’s D3As.51
The arrows indicate the direction from which each attack was launched.



After the war the Admiralty compiled an official report, H.M. Ships Damaged or Sunk by Enemy Action 3rd SEPT. 1939 to 2nd Sept. 1945, which provides succint accounts of the attacks on all Commonwealth warships lost. The entry for Hermes reads as follows:  

HERMES while operating south of Trincomalee at 23 knots was attacked and sunk by Japanese aircraft. At 1035 the first bombs struck the ships hits being registered aft and on the forward aircraft lift. From this time on HERMES was repeatedly hit. Both boiler rooms were put out of action and the forward aircraft lift was wrecked. At 1050 the ship was immobilised, on fire and had a heavy list to port. At 1055 HERMES capsized to port and sank.52 

The attack on Hermes was of course witnessed by Vampire, and in his report Lt Peel commented that:

Enemy aircraft were sighted bearing 055O at 12000 feet at about 1035 and HERMES opened fire with 4”. Aircraft commenced their dive from the sun which was nearly overheard VAMPIRE. 

HERMES was repeatedly hit and turned on her beam ends, down by the bow, and sank at about 1045[sic] […] Aircraft continued bombing HERMES which was well on fire and sinking rapidly. As soon as HERMES had disappeared the aircraft directed their attack at VAMPIRE.53

Captain Onslow and his executive officer, Cdr MFL Henstock, were both killed in the attack on Hermes. The senior surviving executive branch officer was the navigator, Lt Cdr LKA Block, whose report on the events of 9 April noted that:

At about 1025 my Warrant Telegraphist sent up word that he could hear the Japanese on their R/T fairly close, and at 1035 approximately I was taking a bearing of Batticoloa Lighthouse which was then abeam of port, our course being 340O, when glancing up I saw the first attack developing out of the sun.

All the guns opened up as soon as the aircraft came within range, and the first bomb was either a near miss on the port side or a hit on the flight deck. Captain Onslow conned the ship through a flexible voice pipe from the armoured shelter until way was off the ship, by which time the ship was listing heavily to port, the edge of the flight deck being awash. This was at about 1050, during this time the bombing had been absolutely continuous, and I should estimate that she was hit by at least 40 bombs, the remainder being  very near misses, all of which shook the ship considerably – they appeared to be of 250-lbs calibre. There was nothing in the nature of a wide miss.54  

Block attached to his report the accounts of several other Hermes officers. Of particular interest is the account submitted by Lt (E) DG Glen, the damage control officer:

Throughout the action, I was at my Action Station in the Lower Conning Tower [LCT] as Damage Control Officer. At approximately 0945 a message was passed down and sent to all sections that we had been sighted by enemy reconnaissance planes and that we were to expect air attack, that fighter support was being sent. Approximately one hour later, we heard our own anti-aircraft opening up, followed a few moments later by the explosion of several bombs. All the lights went out, and the whole ship shook. Several more bombs were dropped and the lights came on again. No reports were had from the Damage Control Sections, and it was difficult to tell whether the bombs were “near misses” or hits. The ship remained upright. Several more salvoes of bombs were dropped and all the lights went out again. The telephones went out of action. Violent helm was being used and the ship was down by the bows, but she appeared to be upright still.

I said to Commander Henstock that I thought half of the bombs were “near misses”.

A report came from the main telephone exchange in the L.C.T. that oil was leaking through the bulkhead into the L.C.T. I investigated this personally and found water pouring in through an extended spindle gland. This meant that the S.P.O’s [Stoker Petty Officer] and C.P.O’s bathrooms were flooded. Meanwhile fresh bombs were being dropped. The ship then had a 5O heel to port, but it was difficult to tell whether this was due to helm or not. In view of the bathrooms being flooded, I wrote out a chit to the pumping and flooding party, telling them to flood C.19 and Starboard Coffer Dam Oil Fuel Tanks, to bring her upright. I gave this to the messanger and told him to take it to the S.P.O. in charge, or the D.B.Ch.Sto. By then the ship had a 10O heel to port and rapidly increasing this list. Smoke was coming from the Engine Room Voice Pipe, and Cordite fumes down the escape hatch. Water was starting to cover the floor. The ship then heeled to 20O and I told the Commander I could not right her and to flood the Starboard O.F. [Oil Fuel] Tanks would take at least two hours.
The ship was still heeling, to probably more than 25O but it was difficult to tell as she was so much down by the bows that the pendalum on the for’d bulkhead did not swing freely. Meanwhile bombs were still dropping, and as we sat at the table, the short burst of gunfire a few seconds before gave us warning as each bomb hit. The Commander finally gave the order to “Abandon the L.C.T.” and went up himself, I think to report. I collected my gear and went up the escape hatch. When I arrived on the Flight Deck, the Port side was in the water, and I tried to move aft past the lift, which was on its back on the Flight Deck. There was a great patch of oil in the Centre of the Flight Deck. It struck me that if the Port Battery [presumably meaning the three portside 5.5-inch guns] was under water, the Engine rooms, Boiler Rooms, Port Passages, and Flats and Wardroom must be flooded or flooding, so I ran down the Flight Deck and swam off. 

I turned to see her a few moments later as four or five bombs hit her on the Port side, and she turned up with the Flight Deck almost vertical. She was still going ahead and the stern swinging towards me, so I swam further away. Then an enormous explosion occurred in the stern. 

A short burst of machine gunfire just behind me was fired into the water, so I swam further away, and was picked up later by “Vita”.

The whole action, until “Hermes” sank, I should estimate, lasted less than 15 minutes.55   

Lt Cdr EW Cholerton, who controlled the ship’s 5.5-inch low angle guns from the spotting top high above the bridge, also submitted a report:

At about 1035 we received the report from the bridge “Enemy aircraft in sight bearing green 140O.” Almost as soon as I had relayed this to the starboard director the 4” guns and Oerlikons opened fire and I saw two planes diving steeply out of the glare of the sun. […] A few seconds later there were two violent explosions on the starboard side and the top shuddered alarmingly. About 30 seconds later I saw three planes diving towards the ship from slightly on the port bow. They were single engined monoplanes with fixed undercarriages and their angle of dive was about 65O. I saw them drop one bomb each simultaneously it seemed, and it hardly seemed possible for them to miss hitting us. By now the ship seemed very slow and sluggish as a result of the first attack. More attacks were made at short regular intervals from all angles and I noticed that some of the planes were twin engined monoplanes with retractable undercarriages, and they were firing machine guns or cannon from each wing tip. After about three minutes the Vickers machine-gun situated on a platform just outside of the forward side of the top and manned by Marines Youdall and Loxton was rendered useless by a violent explosion from the forward Lift Well, and I ordered the crew to leave their post and take shelter inside the top. Looking out over the Flight Deck I saw that the For’d Lift had been blown completely out and was lying upside down on the deck.

With each successive hit I expected the Homing Beacon on the very top itself to go crashing down, so violent were the shocks; […]  At about 1050 the ship was listing over about 40Oto port and it was quite obvious that the ship would not remain afloat much longer […]. I then leaned out of the top and saw the Gunnery officer, Lieut. Creed, R.N.V.R. on the bridge and shouted out to him and asked him if “abandon ship” had been ordered as there were many men swimming away from the ship. He shouted back “Yes bring your chaps down”. Captain Crockett R.M. the Rate Officer and I waited until the top was cleared and then followed down the mast ladder. There seemed to be some congestion below and we were unable to move. Just then there were two more explosions on the starboard side and I could feel the mast moving over to port. I shouted down “Move quickly lads as you won’t get out of this”. and the ladder was cleared. I just had time to swing across by hand to the starboard side of the mast and the ship took her final plunge with a mighty roar. Just a few seconds previous to this I heard a 4” Gun fire and I later heard that this was fired by A.B. Page. He was not seen again.56

With Cholerton in the top was Captain AJS Crockett, a Royal Marines officer:

About 1040 aircraft were sighted on the Starboard Quarter coming out of the sun at about 10,000 feet. They were flying in close formation and, from the opportunities I had later of counting them, there must have been between 60 and 70 of them. […]

The attack was carried out perfectly, relentlessly and quite fearlessly, and was exactly like a highly organized deck display. The aircraft peeled off in threes, diving straight down on the ship out of the sun on the starboard side. The aircraft appeared to be of two kinds – twin engined machines, and a Junkers 87 type. Just before they released their bombs they opened fire with their machine guns, one in either wing tip. Hits were scored at once, aft, on the port side, in the region of S.1 Gun, on the forward lift. […] Every bomb seemed to score a hit or a near miss, and the top was in a ceaseless state of vibration till we felt that the mast and struts must snap.

The ship soon took a list to port, slightly down by the head, she had lost all way and was driftly slowly through the water, with the helm jammed over to port. Smoke was pouring out of the hangar and the starboard side by S.2 Gun. […] Finally, when it was obvious that the ship was going to sink in a few seconds, Lieutenant Commander Cholerton, the Control Officer, cleared the top. We went down the port strut but got jammed halfway, as there were a lot of men sheltering at the bottom who would not go out as the bridge and flag deck was a shambles with bombs bursting against the side of the island, one after another. Suddenly we felt the ship heeling right over to port, as I jumped for it I heard one of the forward 4” guns fire. I was sucked down by the ship twice and finally reached the surface just in time to see the VAMPIRE disappear in a cloud of smoke on the horizon.[…]

I would like to mention also the splendid behaviour of the men in the water and their spirit of cheerfulness and helpfulness to each other. I cannot say too much of the treatment we received in the VITA, they received and looked after a sudden influx of some 600 men as if it was an ordinary, everyday occurrence.57  

The sentiments expressed by Crockett in his final paragraph were echoed by the other officers who submitted reports, but for the sake of brevity their similar comments have not all been included here.    

Another report was submitted by Lt JF Twite, who was in command of the two 4-inch guns forward of the bridge and two 0.5-inch machine guns:

[At] 1040 Aircraft were sighted Bi Green 90 [relative bearing 90 degrees to starboard] just to left of sun at about 10,000 feet. Barrage of 060 [fuze setting] was immediately opened up. Thence Independent at 020 and 030.  

The attack soon became a continuous stream of Dive Bombers. First Single Engine planes. Followed by Twin Engine machines. Hits were registered at once For’d starboard side. This was followed by the For’d lift blowing up, the flash, blast and debris caused No. 2 gun  to cease firing for a brief spell while crew sorted themselves out. After this the action For’d became rather confused as more hits were registered and the smoke and fire which seemed to be coming up from Starboard Battery became worse.

There was a brief lull to starboard when it was observed that a further attack was developing to port from about 45 degrees on Port bow. For’d H.A. guns engaged the enemy. This attack seemed to be directed mainly at 0.5”s and Nos. 1 and 2 4” H.A. Each bomb release was preceded by heavy M.G. or Cannon fire delivered from guns very far out toward wing tips. Each aircraft released two bombs at 300 to 400 feet. Approx. size of bombs about 100 lbs.

The casualties for’d amongst guns’ crews and supply parties were heavy. At about 1055 HERMES had about 40O list to port and No. 2 4” and both 0.5” mountings were out of action when order came to abandon ship. No. 1 gun still continued to fire. I proceeded for’d along starboard side and ordered .5’s crews to jump for it. I left the ship from right forward and had got about 20 yards when No. 1 gun fired its last shot. The man who fired this was A.B. Gearge Page who appeared from nowhere.58      

Of course, Cholerton, Crockett and Twite were completely mistaken in stating that some of the attacking aircraft were twin-engined. All of KdB’s aircraft were single-engined.  

Hermes sank at 1055, 15 minutes after the first bomb was dropped. The Japanese claimed 37 hits, one every 24 seconds, out of 45 bombs dropped.59 This seems quite possible, since the surviving Hermes officers estimated that it was hit by around 40 bombs and near missed by all the others.

From a crew of about 790, Hermes lost 306 killed (39%). Four of them died between 10 and 15 April and are buried at Colombo, which suggests they were rescued by Vita and died of their wounds aboard her or after being landed at Colombo. The rest are commemorated on the  Chatham, Lee-on-Solent, Plymouth and Portsmouth naval memorials, except for the sole RNZN fatality, who is commemorated on the New Zealand Naval Memorial at Devonport, Auckland.  

The number wounded is not clear, but one source says that Vita’s medical staff classed “some 150” of the survivors from Hermes and Vampire as being “seriously hurt”. It is known that Vampire had seven wounded, so it would seem that at least 139 (18%) of Hermes’ crew were wounded, not counting the four who subsequently died.60



Morgan’s Images

It is exceedingly rare for images taken aboard a sinking warship and images taken by the attackers to be available, but Hermes is one of these cases. Serving on Hermes was an official Admiralty photographer known as Sub-Lieutenant Charles Morgan. Morgan snapped seven pictures of the scene on Hermes’ flight deck during the attack. His account, written in 1942, is as follows:

Not until every hope of saving the ship had gone did we receive the order “Abandon ship”, our Captain’s last order. As the guns still fired men took to the water with bombs bursting around them. 

I took this opportunity to get a few photographs of any visible damage so quickly made my way for’ard, satisfying myself with a quick shot here and there. I [then] worked my way to the after end, stopping amidships to get an excellent picture [#4] of a sailor sliding down the deck backwards, making an amusing snap amongst such tragic circumstances. My next shot was one showing the flight deck and survivors dotted in the water who were, by now, quite a distance away. My last picture I managed to take from right astern showing the full flight deck and superstructure with the hills of Ceylon on the horizon.

The bombers had started another attack and were diving down. Without a second’s delay I opened my camera, plucked out the film, and was over the side.61    

The seven pictures survived.  They show some water damage but provide a remarkable record of Hermes’ final minutes afloat. They are shown below, in the order in which they were taken. The captions are those used in The Hermes Adventure, authored by Morgan’s son Rex, except that a minor error in the first caption has been corrected -“aft lift” has been changed to “forward lift”.62  

Morgan was probably standing near the forward end of the bridge when he took the first three pictures. 

[image: ]
#1: A near miss on the port side. This was the first bomb to damage the ship after the attack began. The marine with his finger to his ears is standing by the forward lift which was shortly to be blasted open as shown in photos 2 and 3.
 
[image: ]
#2: Ship already listing to port as result of Japanese divebomber attacks. Picture shows liftwell area struck by direct hit.

[image: ]                     #3: Looking aft. This picture shows the upturned lift well.

Morgan is believed to have taken the fourth image facing aft while standing further back alongside the after end of the bridge, probably under the funnel.

[image: ]
#4: Taken after the order to abandon ship has been given. The list to port now very pronounced.
A member of the crew scrambles across the oil-covered flight deck. Smoke is pouring from bomb holes.

The fifth image was evidently also taken facing aft, but from well aft of the bridge.  

[image: ]
#5: Survivors can be seen in the water moving away from the sinking ship. Others are seen leaving the flight deck and escaping into the sea. Photo taken amidships facing aft. Wake from ship’s evasive course can be seen.
The sixth and seventh images were quite clearly taken facing forward from aft of the bridge.  The indistinct object encircled in the sixth photo is possibly a blurred image of D3A, with its starboard side facing Hermes, but it is also possible that it is simply a mark caused by water damage.   

[image: ]
#6: Members of the crew carrying out the captain’s last order to abandon ship. Coast of Ceylon clearly visible 
about ten miles away. A few minutes after this picture was taken Hermes was again dive-bombed finally sinking her.

[image: ]
#7: The last few men to survive are shown leaving the flight deck as the ship is about to roll over and sink. Charles Morgan left the ship from the starboard (higher) side to avoid being pulled under with the ship and ultimately taken ashore he discovered the film which eventually yielded these historic though damaged pictures of a ship sinking.

Japanese Images of Hermes Sinking

At least one Japanese aircraft took motion picture footage of the attacks on Hermes. The following still is from one such newsreel.  

[image: C:\Users\Me\Desktop\d3a1_heremessink.jpg]
It has been assessed from the colour and shape of the tail plane of the Japanese aircraft and other visible clues that this image was probably taken from a D3A from Akagi.63   

Also widely available online are a number of Japanese photographs which do not appear to be stills from the available newsreel footage. These include the following five images, which appear to have been taken from a lower altitude. It is suspected that they may have been taken by the crew of Abukuma’s E7K, commanded by Lt Minobe.

[image: C:\Users\Robert\Desktop\Hermes1\Image.jpg]
In this image, evidently from early in the attack, Hermes has been hit but is still under way.
Vampire, steaming at high speed at upper left, has not yet been attacked.64

[image: http://i.imgur.com/vRk3NNw.jpg]
In this image Hermes is barely moving or stopped and down by the bow but not yet listing badly.
The wake visible behind Hermes is presumably from Vampire.65
[image: http://ww2db.com/images/ship_hermes8.jpg]
This photo was evidently taken several minutes into the attack. Hermes is moving very slowly, 
if at all, and is down by the bow and listing to port. One of her tormentors is visible above her. 
The east coast of Ceylon is in the background, indicating that Hermes is now facing south.66

[image: https://pacificeagles.net/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/HermesSinking.jpg]
This image was clearly taken several minutes later, from more directly overhead. Hermes is now further down by the bow and the flight deck is awash along almost its whole port side. The flight deck appears largely intact, but smoke can be seen coming out in several places, evidently from small holes made by bombs which exploded after penetrating it. The arrow points to the upside down forward lift, immediately aft of its well.67

[image: C:\Users\Robert\Desktop\Hermes2\Image (2).jpg]Her whole forward section now submerged, Hermes is clearly about to go under in this image. 
What appears to be the splash from a very late near miss is visible along her port side.68   


Vampire

	When it became clear that Hermes was doomed, most of the D3A crews who had not yet dropped their bombs switched target to Vampire. The Australian destroyer was attacked by four D3As from Hiryu and 12 from Akagi, starting at about 1055. The former claimed only one hit but the latter claimed 12. Vampire broke in two by about 1102, the forward section sinking immediately and the aft section going down at 1105. 

Vampire’s captain, Cdr William Thomas Alldis Moran (pictured right), was killed during the attack. As already noted, his first lieutenant submitted a report on Vampire’s last hours and Lt Peel’s account of the attack on his ship provides the following details: 
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HERMES […] sank at about 1045 [sic] […] VAMPIRE altered course 180o to stand by as attack had not been actually directed at her to date.  Aircraft continued bombing HERMES which was well on fire and sinking rapidly. As soon as HERMES had disappeared the aircraft directed their attack at VAMPIRE. About 15 aircraft took part and commenced with 3 very near misses, one abreast “B” gun port side, one 2 feet from stern and one abreast “B” gun starboard side which bent the mounting of “A” gun to port and prevent “B” gun training, and broke the mounting of the starboard Lewis Guns. There were then two [further] misses, one on the starboard beam and one on the port side which damaged the whaler. 

The sixth bomb passed through the potato locker and penetrated No.2 boiler room where Chief Stoker Lord and Stoker Williams were killed and the main and auxiliarry steam lines cut. The blast from this bomb knocked the Oerlikons crews off their platform. Hits then followed in rapid succession and the order to abandon ship was given from the bridge. At this time the pom-poms were still firing and continued to do so until a hit was sustained in No.4 Oil Fuel Tank and the mixed column of oil fuel and water carried away the guns crews. VAMPIRE was then sagging badly and proceeding through the water at about a knot turning to port with a heavy list to port. The port Lewis gun stopped firing just after the pom-poms. Aircraft continued to bomb whilst hands were abandoning ship and a direct hit was observed on the forward end of the torpedo tubes – the war heads did not explode, but the ship broke into two halves. The forward end sank practically immediately and enemy aircraft ceased bombing and were making off when the after magazine exploded and the stern sank at 1105. About two minutes after the stern had disappeared there was a heavy underwater explosion which appeared to be depth charges. The Gunner (T) states that the primers were withdrawn from all but two depth charges and these had primers in the safe position and rubber caps on pistols which were set to safe.

It is considered that the rubber caps were blown off and primer driven home by blast from the after magazine exploding.

VAMPIRE shot down one dive-bomber for certain and one probable. Hits were observed on other aircraft.

Four out of six Carley floats floated away and all five Denten [Denton] rafts. Carley rafts were pulled and wounded collected and orders were given to concentrate in the water as much as possible.

At this stage four ratings who were supportingthemselves on a bearing out spar sighted a pilot and parachute in the water and called out to him – he replied in a “gabble” so they replied “---- him” and retired. [The redaction of what appears to be a four letter profanity was made by a recipient of the copy of Peel’s report which is in the UK archives.]

VITA was not sighted at this time so I accordingly gave orders to swim for the shore. At about 1300 VITA was sighted and everyone was ordered to swim towards her, but by this time we were getting rather scattered. VITA commenced picking up VAMPIRE’s survivors at about 1645 and everyone was onboard by 1800. Officers and ratings are unanimous in their praise at the magnificant way survivors were looked after whilst in VITA.69  

Peel’s claim of one D3A destroyed and one probabaly destroyed was mistaken. One D3A from Zuikaku was damaged attacking Hermes, and one from Shokaku was damaged at the same time or during the brush with 11 Squadron related below, but none were shot down attacking Vampire. Consequently, the story about a shot down airman being in the water among Vampire’s survivors is highly implausable.70 

Vampire’s crew probably numbered 119 souls, of whom eight were killed, including Moran. Seven were wounded, one of them dying of his wounds on 13 April, bringing the total fatalities to nine.71  
Japanese Images of Vampire Sinking

Japanese newsreel footage of the attack on Vampire is also available. It was presumably taken by the same aircraft, probably a D3A from Akagi, which shot the footage of Hermes. It is not known if the image depicted on this page is a still from this motion picture footage or from still photography. 

[image: This wartime edition of the Japanese magazine "Weekly Photographic Journal" shows the destruction of HMAS Vampire (though flipped).]
Vampire under attack. A page from the wartime Japanese magazine "Weekly Photographic Journal".72

[image: http://i.imgur.com/oh4K2QR.jpg]
Published in Maru Magazine No. 186, November 1962, this close-up appears to be from the same image.73 
According to Lt Peel the first and third bombs dropped were both near misses abreast of B turret, the former 
to port and the latter to starbard. If one assumes that an original publisher is less likely to reverse an image, then the upper version is correctly oriented and the image is of the first near miss.
[image: ]
A still showing a later moment during the attack on Vampire. The mushroom cloud is possibly from the explosion of the after magazine but this reportedly happened after the forward section broke off and sank. 
A D3A has been caught in the image.
  
[image: ]
Vampire’s final moments. Little but smoke and steam can be seen. 
Possibly this image captures the sinking of the after section of the ship or its immediate aftermath.74 

In these two stills the coast of Ceylon is clearly visible. They thus offer a clue as to Vampire’s position when it sank and have been used in attempts to plot its likely position on the bottom but to date Vampire’s wreck has not been found. The wrecks of the other five ships have been located and all are in water shallow enough to be visited by divers.75

Vampire carried no Admiralty photographer and if any of the crew took any photographs, which seems unlikely, the images have not survived. Hermes was the only friendly ship in the immediate vicinity but Morgan captured no images of Vampire, and in any case Hermes went down before Vampire did. As is usually the case, all of the available images of the attack on Vampire were taken by the attackers.




British Sergeant

British Sergeant, about 12 miles to the northwest of Hermes, was the next target. It was attacked by three D3As from Hiryu and three from Akagi, and according to Japanese accounts the attack started at 1100. The six crews claimed altogether four direct hits and two near misses, a score confirmed by British Sergeant’s master, Captain Harold Faulkner, in his report. Hiryu’s crews claimed three hits, so presumably the flagship’s crews claimed one hit and two near misses.  One of British Sergeant’s crewmen suffered a minor injury but no one was killed.76 
Sank after being bombed in 08.00N - 81.38E
Faulkner reported that:

At 2000 on the 8th April we received orders to put to sea immediately as air attacks were expected on the port of Trincomalee, so the vessel was ballasted as quickly as possible and we left the harbour at 0200 on the 9th April with orders to return at noon on the same day. Just off Batticaloa I saw the other ships which had left the harbour heading back for Trincomalee so at 0900 on the 9th I turned the vessel round at Elephant Point and sailed towards the harbour.

The weather was fine; the sea was smooth with light airs and visibility was good. At 1035 Local Time I heard the sound of gunfire and observed enemy aircraft attacking the aircraft carrier HERMES and a destroyer. I gave instructions for the utmost speed to be used and altered course for shallow water near the land.

At 1045 [sic?] 24 Japanese planes passed overhead at a height of about 6,000 feet, flying toward Trincomalee in V. formation.  [Presumably these were D3As on their way to the reassembly point after dropping their bombs.] Shortly after when in position 5 miles east from Elephant Point and steaming at 10½ knots on a course N.9.W. [351 degrees?] I heard the roar of planes again and I sighted 6 Japanese single-engined planes (T. 96’s) flying in single-line step formation, the leading plane being the lowest. They emerged out of the sun from the east and flew from starboard to port right over the ship at a height of about 6,000 feet. The leading plane dived at an angle of 60 degrees to a height of 800 feet and when he was just before the beam on the starboard side he released a bomb which near missed on the port bow. It burst below water, shattering the port rigging, splitting open the ship’s side round the fore deep tank and causing the ship to list 35 degrees to port.

The bomb from the second plane hit the ship on the starboard side of the foremast, penetrating the deck and exploding inside No. 1 summer tank. This cause extensive damage to the surrounding structure, the forehold beams collapsed and penetrated the fore deep tank.

I rang the engines to “Stop” and the Fourth Engineer, who was in the engine-room, answered the order.   

Bombs from the third and fourth planes dropped almost simultaneously. They penetrated the ship’s deck near the mainmast and broke the ship’s back.

The bomb from the fifth plane hit the starboard side of the cross bunker, splitting the outside shell platting.

The bomb from the sixth plane fell very close on the port side, causing shrapnel damage and destroying the port lifeboat.

Altogether there were 4 direct hits and 2 near misses in the space of about 90 seconds, and all the bombs were dropped from a height of about 800 feet. We kept the guns firing throughout the attack.    

Faulkner ordered abandon ship and at “about 1100” most of the crew pulled away in the three surviving boats, the remainder pulling away in a dinghy at about 1200. The ship sank at 1300 off Elephant Point.77

Faulkner was awarded the OBE and his Fourth Engineer, Sidney Robert Milburn Turnbull, received the MBE. The citations read as follows:

The ship was dive bombed by six Japanese aircraft. Two of the attacking planes were probably destroyed by the intensive fire put up by the vessel. Several direct hits were sustained which caused extensive damage and the ship began to break up. Although he ordered the crew to the boats, the Master remained on board in the hope of saving the ship. Nothing further could be done however and, some time after the vessel was finally abandoned, she sank.

Captain Faulkner showed courage and coolness throughout and set a fine example. It was due to his excellent organisation that the whole of the crew was saved.

The Fourth Engineer Officer displayed outstanding devotion to duty during the attack. He remained below and stopped the engines when required so that the ship lost way and boats and rafts could be got away in safety. 

The reference to the probable destruction of two of the six D3As was entirely mistaken. No Japanese aircraft were lost during the attack on British Sergeant.

Five other members of the crew received commendations for “brave conduct” or “good service”.  For one of them, Third Officer Eric Pointon, this was his second award for the week. As already noted, British Sergeant was present when Colombo was attacked on 5 April, and Pointon received the MBE for going aboard the merchantman Benledi, moored nearby, after it was hit. The citation states that: 

During a Japanese air raid on an Eastern harbour, a ship was hit. The Master of another ship sent his Third Officer to find out if help was required.  He was told that the magazine had been burst open by the explosion and was on fire. Mr. Pointon at once went in and dragged some cordite cases out on deck away from the flames. Although later others helped in putting out the fire, it was the Third Officer's unhesitating courage which prevented a serious loss.78   

Pointon is shown in an image on page 12 of this article.

3 Ships for 18 Bombs

Having expended all their bombs, the D3As from Akagi, Hiryu, Shokaku and Zuikaku, and all nine Zeros, headed back to their ships. During their return flight, Shokaku’s D3As and Hiryu’s three Zeros encountered four Blenheims returning from an unsuccessful attack on KdB. The Zeros and D3As attacked, shooting down the aircraft of Squadron Leader K. Ault. However, in return the bombers managed to shoot down the Zero flown by PO1c Toshio Makinoda.79

	Apparently unnoticed by their comrades, Soryu’s 18 D3As stayed behind. Led by Lt Cdr Takashige Egusa, they had been the last to arrive on the scene. Finding Hermes already sunk or sinking, Egusa headed further north, in pursuit of a second carrier reported by Abukuma’s E7K. However, the navigation and/or ship identification skills of Lt Minobe and his crew had evidently not improved since 5 April, when they had identified the 10,000 ton heavy cruisers Cornwall and Dorsetshire as destroyers, for after flying north for 20 miles Egusa sighted no second carrier. Having, it seems, previously spotted Hollyhock, Athelstane and Norviken, Egusa elected to turn south to attack these consolation prizes, if he could find nothing better.80 
	[image: http://i.imgur.com/NMI3Y2b.jpg]

	
	Lt Cdr Takashige Egusa81



Hollyhock was overflown at 1145 by 18 aircraft heading south, and Hollyhock, Norviken and Athelstane all reported that their attackers approached from the south. (See below.) This implies that Egusa flew up to 20 miles to the south looking for the non-existent second carrier before turning north again. He began his attack at 1205, a full hour after the attacks on Hermes, Vampire and British Sergeant. Hollyhock, Athelstane and Norviken were all sunk, a very fair return on an investment of 18 bombs, but the delay was to prove costly.82

There is conflicting information about how many aircraft attacked each of the three ships. Japanese information has six D3As attacking each one, scoring five hits on Athelstane, five on Norviken and one on Hollyhock.83 Hollyhock’s report notes the approach of nine D3As at 1203, saying that five aircraft attacked Athelstane at 1205 while two pairs attacked Hollyhock, at 1208 and 1217, scoring two near misses and two hits. Athelstane’s report says that it was hit or near missed by seven bombs. The truth may be that six D3As from the first chotai attacked Athelstane while the other three attacked Hollyhock at 1208. Then, at 1217, Hollyhock was attacked by three D3As detached from the second chotai after Norviken had been fatally damaged.       

Athelstane’s report states that when the attack started it was located at 7° 31'N, 82°E, which is about 11 miles northeast of Kalmunai, while Hollyhock’s report notes that it was located at 070 21’ N, 810 57’E, which is about eight miles southeast of Kalmunai. The two ships were in fact only one mile from each other, so clearly at least one of these positions is wrong. Recent information places Athelstane’s wreck 15 km (8 nm) south east of Kalmunai, so the position given in Hollyhock’s report seems correct.84
Hollyhock

	Hollyhock’s captain, Lt Cdr TE Davies, was killed, and Sub-Lieutenant GB Humby submitted the following report on the loss of the ship: 

[…] H.M.S “HOLLYHOCK” was proceeding from Trincomalee to Colombo acting as A/S Escort to R.F.A “ATHELSTANE”. Course 167 Deg. Speed of convoy 9 knots.  Clear sky, light N. Easterly breeze, very slight swell.  Zigzag ahead of “ATHELSTANE”, one mile ahead.

[…] At 1005 signal received that H.M.S “HERMES” had been sighted by enemy aircraft. At this time “HOLLYHOCK” was 7 miles 120 degs from “HERMES”. Ships company closed up at A.A stations. Course altered to 200 deg. to close shore.
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	Davies85


1140. Course altered to 175 Deg.

1145. 18 enemy aircraft flew overhead steering 170 Deg. [Soryu’s D3As looking for second carrier further to the south]

1200. Position by cross bearings 07 deg. 21’ N., 81 deg. 57’E. 

1203. 9 aircraft sighted bearing 180 deg. flying North. [Soryu aircraft returning from the south] 

1204. Ship opened fire with 4” L.A. and MK VIII 2 Pdr.

1205. R.F.A. “ATHELSTANE” dive bombed by 5 aircraft. One bomb each. Ship was hit several times and disabled. Crew abandoned ship.

1208. Attack commenced on H.M.S. “HOLLYHOCK”. First bomb exploded on starboard side, 25 ft. from ship, abreast of galley. Side fuel tanks burst and No. 2 Boiler put out of action due to strained plating.

1209. Second bomb exploded 30-40 yds. from starboard side of ship between bridge and 2 pdr. Started to close “Athelstane” for survivors.

1217. Third bomb exploded on Engine room casing, disabling Pom-pom, engines, W/T, steering gear. Ship started to settle fast by the stern.

1218. Fourth bomb burst amidships, causing large explosion due to boilers or 2 pdr. magazine, or both, exploding. Whole of after part of ship disintegrated and ship sank within 30-45 seconds.

[Attack] Took form of dive bombing from approximately 3000 ft. Bombs released at about 300-400 ft. Single engine A/C type unknown. Undercarriage lowered during dive to act as brake. One bomb only carried. Machine guns not used. First two aircraft came in from ahead, 3rd. and 4th. from port beam. Bombs were about 250 lb. armour piercing. 

In the 1st and 2nd attacks, avoiding action using full speed turning hard a-port, as aircraft started dive, in which cases action was successful. In 3rd attack which was from port beam, maximum available speed was about 11 knots. Ship was turned towards aircraft (i.e. to port) just after dive commenced. No action could be taken in fourth attack as ship was helpless.

Fire was maintained from 4” gun up till the very last moment. Owing to slowness of training gears on 4”, which was damaged by 1st bomb, targets could not be held consequently 11 rounds fired were rather wide. Between 2nd and 3rd attacks pom-pom was jammed for two or three minutes, but apart from this it was firing almost continuously as the aircraft came into attack, until it was put out of action. According to officers of “Athelstane”, one aircraft was seen to be losing height after attacking, and carried a definite list to starboard.

Ship was not fully equipped with close range A.A weapons, there being only one Hotchkiss 303 fired from the shoulder by the First Lieutenant. Single Oerlikons should have been fitted during last boiler cleaning period in Colombo, but in fact only pedestals were placed on board, and these not mounted in spite of signals made from the ship requesting work may be completed before sailing. The two twin Lewis 303 which the Oerlikons were to replace, had already been transferred to H.M.S. “ASTER”, to make way for the new guns.
The claim that one D3A was damaged cannot be confirmed. At least four of Soryu’s D3As were damaged but this may have been exclusively at the hands of the Fulmars which engaged them starting at 1205. 

Humby concluded his report by singling out the conduct of two members of the crew:

I should like to invite your attention to the great coolness of the layer of the 4” gun, A.B.  G.B FAWCET who remained at his gun long enough to get off one round almost instantaneously with the last explosion. […] It was noted that the Coxswain, C.P.O. PRESTON remained at his post despite splinters flying all around him and the wheel-house collapsing. The conduct of the crew as a whole was excellent and the men were at their post right up to the last moment. 86

Chief Petty Officer Robert Arthur Frank Preston and Able Seaman George Bryan Fawcett were later awarded a Mention in Dispatches “For good services when H.M.S. Hollyhock was sunk”.87  

Humby also completed a form known as a “Report of Attack by Enemy Aircraft”. It is consistent with the above report, except that he claimed that Hollyhock was attacked by single engine “Fighter/Bombers, Exact Type Unknown”.  In identifying D3As as “fighter/bombers”, Humby made a mischaracterization also made by the captains of Dorsetshire and Cornwall in recounting the loss of their ships on 5 April. 

Humby stated that 3 officers and 50 ratings were lost, but Commonwealth War Graves Commission data puts the fatalities at 3 officers and 46 ratings. Humby states that 1 rating was badly burnt and 10 ratings were slightly injured, and that 2 officers and 14 ratings were picked up by Athelstane’s lifeboat. It appears that Hollyhock probably had 65 officers and ratings, of whom 75% were killed and 17% wounded – an overall casualty rate of 92%.88

Athelstane 

	Athelstane’s master, Captain Henry Moore (pictured right), was interviewed by the Admiralty’s shipping casualties section three months after the loss of his ship and provided this account:  

We proceeded at 9 knots steering a southerly course, weather was fine with good visibility, smooth sea with light airs. The sun was directly overhead when at 1207 A.T.S, on the 9th April, in position 7° 31'N, 82° E, we sighted a large number of planes approaching from the south, that is from directly ahead. They were Zero fighters about 29 of them as far as I could count, then I noticed 9 planes in a V formation making straight toward us, flying at a height of about 10,000ft. I ordered the crew to take cover behind the sandbags as we had no A.A armament, and as I did so the planes formed into single line astern and dived one after the other in rotation in a fore and aft line over the ship. Each plane carried one bomb,
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which was released at a height of 800 feet, the aircraft pulling out of its dive at about 400 feet. We fired the P.A.C rockets but one jammed in its box, and the other fouled the wireless aerial.

A large number of bombs fell around us, we received 5 direct hits and 2 near misses. The first bomb struck the fore deck between Nos 1 and 2 tanks, the second in almost the same position, the third on No 3 tank, the fourth fell into No 3 tank, exploded in the oil, which was thrown up, smothering everything, and blew a hole in the starboard side shell plating. The fifth bomb, which fell on the after deck, apparently failed to explode properly, as there was no damage to the deck, the only effect being to throw the gunner at the 4" gun up into the air. One near miss fell off the starboard side, doing no damage, but the other fell off the port side abreast of the engine room amidships, smashing the steering gear out of action.

The whole attack lasted about 5 minutes, during which another formation of enemy aircraft was attacking HMS Hollyhock. The first bomb fell close alongside her, the second struck her near the funnel, probably exploding in her magazine, as she immediately blew up, disintegrating, and sank at 1217.

When the planes flew off I gave the order to lower the boats and abandon ship. We carried 4 lifeboats, of which we could only launch Nos 2 and 4 and a raft. No 1 lifeboat could not be launched owing to the hole in the ship's starboard side, and the after starboard boat No 3 was lowered into the water but was so badly damaged that it became water-logged and drifted away floating on its tanks, and was useless.

The whole ship was covered with oil which had been thrown up from No 3 tank, the boat falls were very slippery, but we managed to lower the two lifeboats successfully, with a few men only in them to lessen the weight. We abandoned ship at 1222, all the crew getting away safely. The mate jumped overboard for some unknown reason, and was picked up later along with gunner A. Goodman, who had been caught by the blast of the last bomb and was either blown overboard or had jumped over, in any event he was in the water. I was in charge of No 2 boat, but I was told that a native in No 4 boat, seeing the gunner in the water, jumped into the sea and swam some considerable distance to him, with a rope, and they were both pulled back into the boat. The native's name is Joseph John[s], a Christian Hindu. Meanwhile, we pulled our lifeboat for about 1/4 mile to the survivors from the Hollyhock and picked up 14 men (2 officers and 12 ratings): the remainder of the corvette’s crew must have been either killed or drowned, as we did not see any other men in the vicinity.

We rowed and sailed the boats for a distance of about 8 miles towards the land, and landed on the east coast of Ceylon a little to the southward of a village called Kalamani.

The Athelstane finally sank at 1430, nearly 2 1/2 hours after being hit. All the crew behaved remarkably well throughout the attack and there was no sign of panic amongst the native portion of the crew.89

Captain Moore and Deck Topass Joseph Johns were commended “for brave conduct”. (A topass was an interpreter for Lascar or South Asian seamen on British vessels.)90 

Norviken

It was entirely by chance that Norviken found itself within sight of Soryu’s D3As at noon on 9 April. As previously noted, Norviken departed Madras for Bombay on 6 April. By 1000 on 9 April it was close inshore near Batticaloa Light, still steering south, and was passed by Hermes and Vampire, 10 miles offshore and hurrying to the north.

The six D3As which attacked Norviken claimed five hits. According to Norwegian sources, Norviken was near missed once, on the port side amidships, and sustained two hits on the after deck on the starboard side. No mention of the other three bombs is made. One or both of the hits penetrated to the engine room and severed the steam lines, disabling the ship, which was promptly abandoned.   

The six officers were Norwegian but the crewmen were all Chinese. There were four fatalities – Captain Pareli Berg, Steward Chueng Yuen Moi , Quartermaster Wang Shin Fa and Repairman Fong Kai Foo. 

The following is from the account submitted by the first mate, Birger Kleven:

April 9th at about 10 a.m. [sic] received Wireless message that ships are being bombed by enemy airplanes further North of our position. […] At 11.20 a.m. [sic] airplanes was sighted in great height ahead of the ship. Only few seconds after the planes dived and dropped bombs against the ship. The first bomb exploded close by Port side amidships, two bombs by the starboard side on the after deck, steampipes in the engine room did break and the engine room was filled with steam. 

[…] 38 men went into the Starboard lifeboat […]. The whole time under the lowering and rowing against shore the lifeboat was machinegunned. The Officers Cook was hit by a bullet in the ankle and he lost a lot of blood, but we managed to stop the bleeding. After about 3/4 hours rowing the boat was landed through heavy breakers. […] 

After about one hours time some natives came to the landing place bringing Coconuts with them. They told us it was a hospital about one hours travel from the place we were and the most injured were taken there, that was Officer's Cook, two fireman and one Salonboy. […] Shortly after we saw one of the Rafts which came drifting against shore. Onboard the raft was the fireman's cook and the officer's second cook; on the Raft was also the body of the Feetter [?] who was burned to death probably when the steam-pipe in the Engine broke.[…] The second Cook could tell that he had seen the Captain in the water without life-jacket and he was bleeding form the head. […]

Norviken drifting northward with a heavy list until she ran aground the next morning. Looted by locals after dark and set afire, she burned through the night, breaking in two and sinking on 11 April. Norwegian sources give the location as “Timkovie”. No locality by that name has been identified but another source states that Norviken grounded at 07O 05’ North, which is 40 miles south of Batticaloa and a mile south of a town now known as Thirukkovil, which is presumably the Norwegians’ Timkovie.91
Hit Rate 

There can be no denying that the 85 kanbaku scored impressive results. They sank all six ships they attacked, claiming 67 hits out of 85 bombs dropped. This represents a very high hit rate – 79 percent.   

Table 5 – Summary of Bombing Results92

	Target
	Bombs Dropped
	Hits 
Claimed
	Results Reported by Victims

	
	
	
	Near Misses
	Hits

	Hermes
	45
	37
	5?
	“at least 40”

	Vampire
	16
	13
	5
	No total given but 3 hits are noted and it is stated that others “followed in rapid succession” 

	British Sergeant
	6
	6
	2
	4

	Athelstane
	6
	5
	2
	5

	Hollyhock
	6
	1
	2
	2

	Norviken
	6
	5
	1
	2

	Total
	85
	67
	17?
	56+



In many bombing operations the attackers, be they Allied or Axis, made greatly exaggerated claims of hits achieved and targets destroyed, but in this case the claims made by Egusa and his crews were generally accurate. Every ship they claimed as sunk was in fact sunk, and the overall number of hits reported by their victims roughly matched the number of hits they claimed.       

Vita to the Rescue
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An image taken from Vita of survivors from Hermes in the water93

Vita, heading south, and Hermes and Vampire, heading north, had passed each other at 0930. At 1040, when the first bomb fell, Hermes and Vampire were still in sight. Vita immediately turned around and hurried to the rescue of the hundreds of survivors from the two warships who went into the water. The first of the 595 survivors rescued by Vita were picked up at 1300, and the last came aboard at 1900.

Several Allied accounts, with a greater or lesser degree of surprise, suggest that the Japanese were in a position to molest Vita but choose not to do so. The official history of the Royal Navy’s medical service states that when Vita at the scene of Hermes’ sinking “Enemy aircraft were still attacking with cannon fire, but it is recorded that on Vita’s arrival all hostile activity ceased and all due respect was accorded to the Red Cross”.  

Vita could probably have made it back to Trincomalee in as little as six hours, but proceeded instead to Colombo, arriving there after 25 hours. This was most likely due to Colombo having greater medical resources, to it being closer to Addu Atoll than Trincomalee was, and to the apparent dearth of coal at Trincomalee. The survivors were quickly landed but the detour to Colombo, presumably at high speed, evidently consumed enough fuel that Vita could not immediately resume its passage to Addu Atoll. “[T]he problem of coaling […] was a cause of such delay that the ship did not arrive [at Addu Atoll] until noon on April 16”, much to the discomfiture of the survivors from Cornwall and Dorsetshire.   

Of Hermes’ three medical officers, Surgeon Lt Cdr RS Anderson was killed and Surgeon Cdr JM McNamara was fatally wounded. Only the junior medical officer, Surgeon Lt JA Smart, survived to succor his shipmates. In his report Block drew attention to Smart’s “excellent work … amongst the survivors whilst in the water and aboard H.M.H.S. Vita. Smart swam from raft to raft tending to the wounded until they were embarked in “Vita” and then himself insisted upon helping in the operating theatre and elsewhere entirely regardless of his own personal fatigue.” In his report Cholerton echoed that Smart “was marvellous and earned the undying gratitude of every man who got away”. Lt Smart was subsequently awarded the MBE “For skill and devoted service in the care of wounded after H.M.S. Hermes had been sunk by enemy air attacks in the Indian Ocean”.94

The survivors from Hermes and Vampire were unanimous and unstinting in praising the care they received from the medical staff and crew of HMHS Vita.

Not in the Nick of Time

As they were dropping their last bombs, Soryu’s D3As, minus one which had just departed with engine trouble, were engaged at about 1205 by the first of 14 Fulmars to arrive on the scene. Eight of the Fulmars, from 803 and 806 NAS, were from Ratmalana, near Colombo, and six, from 273 Squadron, were from Kokkilai, 35 miles northwest of China Bay.

The time line for the dispatch of the eight Fulmars from Ratmalana is known. As previously noted, 222 Group sent an order to Ratmalana at 1005 for seven Fulmars to leave immediately to patrol over Hermes and for another seven to leave one hour later for the same purpose. Key telephone lines knocked out during the 5 April raid on Colombo were not yet back in service, so this order had to be sent from Colombo by dispatch rider and did not arrive until 1030. The Fulmars took off under the command of Lt Richard Johnston, the CO of 806 NAS, at 1100 - some 55 minutes after the order was sent.  

The time line for the dispatch of the six Fulmars from Kokkilai is much less clear. It is known that 222 Group tried to send the following order to China Bay at 0955:

H.M.S. HERMES HAS BEEN LOCATED BY ENEMY 20 MILES 160 DEGREES BATTICOLOA. Render such fighter support as situation will permit.

Since all the telephone lines between Colombo and China Bay were unserviceable, this order was sent by emergency teleprinter to Trincomalee “and thence presumably via D.R. [dispatch rider] to China Bay”.  As previously noted, it was not until 1050, 55 minutes later, that four Hurricanes were scrambled from China Bay and sent to protect Hermes, and they were recalled at 1106 due to a false alarm for an air raid on Trincomalee. It is not known when the order was passed to Kokkilai or when its Fulmars were scrambled, but since they arrived over Athelstane and Hollyhock by about 1215, they may have taken off at around 1120 – about 85 minutes after 222 Group’s order was sent.95   

It was unfortunate for Athelstane, Hollyhock and Norviken that these snafus resulted in the Fulmars from Ratmalana and Kokkilai being delayed and the four Hurricanes not arriving at all, as otherwise all 18 of them could have arrived before Egusa’s crews dropped their first bombs. However, misfortune is a neutral country which treats all belligerents the same, and Egusa was unlucky too. Were it not for the original delay in finding Hermes due to Haruna 3’s low endurance and the time lost while he searched for Minobe’s non-existent second carrier, he could well have dropped all his bombs and been on his way before the Hurricanes and Fulmars even took off. His misfortune was compounded by the failure of any of the nine Zeros to stay behind to protect his aircraft.      

The Fulmar
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A Fulmar Mark II two-seater carrier-borne fighter 
The Fairey Fulmar was not a sparkling success as a fighter. Its great handicap was that pre-war Royal Navy policy demanded that all shipborne aircraft carry an observer (i.e., a navigator), so it had to be big enough to carry a second crewman. Furthermore, the design was based on that of an unsuccessful light bomber, the Fairey Battle. As Table 6 illustrates, the Fulmar II, which equipped 273 Sqn, 803 NAS and 806 NAS, was inferior in performance to the Hurricane except in range, and was outclassed by the Zero in every category. On 5 April, when Colombo was attacked, six Fulmars took off to take on the attackers, but four were shot down and they claimed (wrongly, most likely) only one enemy aircraft.96

Table 6 – Fulmar II Performance

	
	Fulmar II
	Hurricane IIB
	A6M2 Zero

	Span
	14.14 m
	12.19 m
	12.00 m

	Length
	12.24 m
	9.582 m
	9.06 m

	Empty Weight
	3,182 kg
	2,495 kg
	1,680 kg

	Maximum Speed
	236 kt at 2,200 m
	287 kt at 7,620 m
	288 kt at 4,550 m

	Climbing Speed
	4,572 m in 12 min
	4,572 m in 5 min 54 sec
	6,000 m in 7 min 27 sec

	Range
	661 nm
	417 nm
	1,010 nm

	Armament
	8 x .303in
	12 x .303in
	2 x 20mm, 2 x 7.7mm



Val et al. versus Vals

The only detailed information available from the British side on the attack by the Fulmars from Ratmalana is contained in the following account submitted by the station intelligence officer at China Bay, based on debriefing the aircrews after they landed: 

At 1030 operation order to patrol at 1200 feet [typo for “12,000 feet”?] over HERMES 20 miles Batticaloa was received. At 1100 eight (8) Fulmars were airborne. At 1200 coast crossed south of Batticaloa at 13,000 feet. At 1205 aircraft were seen bombing a merchant ship [Norviken] moving slowly parallel to the coast about five miles out. She appeared to increase speed suddenly and shortly after a bomb burst astern in her wake and another hit amidships.

Yellow section. Four aircraft were ordered to attack, the rest remained as top cover; two of these attacking later. At the same time HERMES [Athelstane] and another ship beside her [Hollyhock] were seen steering South parallel to the coast and some ten miles off shore.

Enemy aircraft were at 4000 feet, mainly NAVY “O’s” and “97’s”.

At 1210 the only observer who was in X 8569 saw three direct hits from Dive Bombers on HERMES which blew up almost at once. He further reports that some six aircraft [probably the Fulmars from Kokkilai] emerged from the top of the cloud over the land at 7 – 8000 feet going towards the ships.

HERMES had meantime turned sharply through ninety degrees and was going East when she was hidden in a puff of white smoke, after which there was nothing to be seen but an oil patch.

 A cloud layer from 4 – 8000 feet finished at the coast, clear over the sea.

Our losses 2 aircraft and two pilots missing.

Enemy Aircraft losses. Five aircraft were seen to dive into the sea, of which one may have been a Fulmar as fluorescence appeared on the water.

Several enemy aircraft were damaged.

Total of enemy aircraft about thirty, probably Navy 96  and 97 bombers in three parties attacking the two ships and Fulmars respectively.

Visibility good: 20 – 25 miles.

The six Fulmars landed at China Bay between 1305 and 1345.97    

There is likewise only one source of detailed information on the attack by the six Fulmars from Kokkilai, namely Lt PEI Bailey (very appropriately known as ‘Val’), who led them. He provided the following account to the authors of Bloody Shambles, Volume Two, evidently prior to 1993:  

I climbed as fast as I could, which was not very fast in a Fulmar, and at about 18,000 feet I saw the Hermes ahead. As we approached, I saw more aircraft than I had ever seen in one place before and, as I had no wireless communication (none of us did), I rolled over – and believing that the best chance was to have maximum speed – kept pointing downhill into the melee.

The Fulmar had a terminal velocity, so we believed, of about 270 knots, and at that speed I arrived in the middle of a lot of aircraft – fortunately all opposition! I remember noting that the Hermes was not on fire but seemed to be very full of holes. There was an escort of some sort.

I found a ’96 in front of me and was about to fire when there was the most almighty noise in my cockpit – I pushed the tit and to my surprise, whilst continuing to overtake the ’96, it flipped over. The noise, I then discovered, had been my cockpit hood blowing off, doubtless due to the unexpected speed the thing had been doing.

There was an extraordinary number of aircraft still about, and I was now at about 1,000 feet. I headed for land, being uncomfortable in the presence of the ‘Zeros’. There were several aircraft in front of me and once again a ’96 got in the way. I regret to say that I continued landwards after that as I had no ammunition and was nervous!      

[image: Val Bailey]
Bailey, sitting centre, as CO of 886 Naval Air Squadron in 1944

Another version of Bailey’s account was included in his 2010 obituary:
 
I took off and headed out to sea climbing all the time as I was certain I would need all the height advantage […] I saw a ship below with steam and smoke coming out and more aeroplanes milling about than I had ever seen. The ship was Hermes, which was sinking, and I dived down to her as fast as the Fulmar would go, surprising some Japanese Navy 96s with a Zero or two about. As I came behind the first Navy 96 I squeezed the trigger and destroyed it. Thereafter life became chaotic. I kept the throttle fully open whilst weaving about, by now very low and more anxious to avoid a collision than find a target. However it wasn’t possible to miss a Navy 96 which appeared in front of me which I knocked bits off.98 

A Japanese source provides the following description of the same engagement:

… nine enemy fighters (Spitfires) came to attack the [Soryu] bomber unit and nine of our carrier bombers gallantly met the enemy and in beautifully executed team work shot down seven (of which two are not confirmed) of them, but we too lost four planes.99

Comparing these accounts, it would appear that Johnston opened the proceedings by engaging the D3As which had been attacking Norviken. The six aircraft spotted emerging “from the top of the cloud over the land at 7 – 8000 feet going towards the ships” after Johnston’s Yellow Section launched its attack were probably Bailey’s Fulmars, which suggests that they attacked a few minutes after Johnston’s.

From the comment by Johnston’s crews that the D3As were ”in three parties attacking the two ships and Fulmars respectively” and from the account from the Japanese side, it appears that the Fulmars from Ratmalana were soon opposed by a concerted counterattack, led by Egusa, by nine D3As which had already dropped their bombs. Bailey’s flight probably attacked the other eight dive-bombers, which, we can speculate, had just dropped their bombs or were in the process of doing so and were not able to put up a coordinated defence. This may also explain why Johnston lost two planes while Bailey lost none.   

During the Battle of Britain, an engagement between 14 Hurricanes and 17 unescorted Ju-87s would have been decidedly one-sided, but while the Fulmar also had eight .303 machine guns it was not the equal of the Hurricane in any other way, and without their bombs D3As were far more manoeuvrable than Stukas. Only four of Egusa’s D3As were shot down. At least four were damaged, and one of these, flown by Lt Moriyuki Koide, crash-landed on Soryu and became a total loss. In return, the Fulmars flown by Sub-Lt Paul Peirano and A/Sub-Lt RFH Jacob, both of 803 NAS, were shot down by the D3As. One of them was claimed by Egusa himself, who expended 200 rounds from his forward guns. 

Three of the Ratamalana-based pilots, Johnston, Peirano and Sub-Lt Barry Nation, were credited with one aircraft shot down. Bailey was credited with one aircraft destroyed and another damaged, and the other five pilots with him claimed altogether another two probably shot down and two damaged. The British claims, totaling four aircraft destroyed, two ‘probables’ and three damaged, were thus not very far removed from reality. The D3As, on the other hand, apparently claimed to have shot down five of the Fulmars, which they identified as Spitfires, and to have probably shot down another two.100 

It is not terribly surprising that none of the Fulmar crews correctly identified the Japanese dive bombers as the “Navy 99”, instead referring to them as the Navy 97 or Navy 96, and that some of them were identified as Zeros, which the British also called the Navy 0. Misidentification of Japanese aircraft was endemic during the first months of the war. However, it is interesting to note that when Lt Peel’s report  was circulated within the Admiralty, the Director of the Naval Air Division (DNAD) had no difficulty identifying the Japanese aircraft, minuting on 23 May 1942 that:

From this and other reports there is little doubt that the aircraft which attacked HERMES were Type 99 Dive Bombers, each carrying one bomb of 550 lb. and, possibly, two bombs of 110 lb.

This is the first report that has been seen giving details of attacks by Japanese carrier borne dive bombers. The tactics, so far as reported, appear to have been conventional. The height of bomb release is not reported but the bombing was obviously accurate and compares very favourably with the results achieved by the short range Ju. 87’s.101  

The Director of Gunnery and Anti-Aircraft Warfare (DGD) later commented that:

There can be no doubt that the Japanese “first eleven” is very highly trained, and that they must be met with the very best we have got.

Ships with an inadequate A.A. armament and lacking R.D.F. [radar] warning and gunnery ranging sets, can have little chance of survival against massed air attack by highly trained personnel and it is for this reason that D.G.D. is pressing that all ships destined for the Eastern Fleet should be equipped with the most up-to-date material available before they leave the U.K.102      

It is also interesting that the British airmen, most of them naval officers, mistook Athelstane for Hermes. This may have been partly due to the power of suggestion. They had been told that they would find Hermes off Batticaloa, they duly found a sizeable ship off Batticaloa, and they probably did not imagine that Hermes could already have been sunk. Japanese airmen were to make a similar error a month later, when they mistook the USN oiler Neosho for an aircraft carrier, during the Battle of the Coral Sea.

[image: USS Neosho (AO-23)]
USS Neosho in 1939103
Final Tally

The Japanese enjoyed several very one-sided naval and naval air victories during the first year of the war, including the raids on Pearl Harbor and Darwin, and the battles of the Java Sea and Savo Island. The Battle off Batticaloa, if we may call it that, was another. In exchange for just five aircraft shot down, one damaged aircraft written off, and as few as five other aircraft damaged, the Japanese destroyed an aircraft carrier, a destroyer, a corvette, two valuable tankers and a freighter, plus two fighters and a bomber. The strategic impact of this victory, and of Operation C as a whole, was of course much less than for these other operations, especially Pearl Harbor and Java Sea, but there is no denying that the six Allied ships were disposed of with “one touch of an armoured sleeve”.104     

The division of the human cost was equally one-sided. Just nine Japanese airmen were killed, and apparently none were wounded, while the Allies had at least 538 casualties, as shown below:  

Table 7 – Japanese Aircrew Killed105

	Ship
	Aircraft
	Chutai
	Shotai
	Pilot
	Radioman/Gunner

	Soryu
	D3A
	1
	22/2
	PO1c Mitsuru Asakura
	PO1c Jyukichi Ishida

	
	
	1
	23/1
	PO2c Shozou Yamanaka
	PO2c ? Tsuchiya

	
	
	2
	24/3
	PO2c Tatsuo Fujita
	PO1c Goro Kinka

	
	
	2
	25/2
	PO2c Shigeo Igo
	PO2c Hidemi Teramoto

	Hiryu
	A6M
	?
	?
	PO1c Toshio Makinoda
	(None)



Table 8 – Allied Killed and Wounded106

	Ship/Unit
	Killed & DOW
	Wounded
	Remarks

	Hermes
	306
	At least 139
	

	Vampire
	9
	6
	

	Hollyhock
	49
	11
	

	British Sergeant
	0
	1
	

	Athelstane
	0
	3
	

	Norviken
	4
	4+?
	Four seriously wounded plus unknown number with minor wounds

	803 NAS
	2
	0
	Fulmar pilots Sub-Lt P Peirano and A/Sub-Lt RFH Jacob

	11 Sqn
	3
	0
	The crew of Ault’s Blenheim

	806 NAS
	1
	0
	Sub-Lt FW Bonnell, lost aboard Ault’s Blenheim

	Total
	374
	At least 164
	



“We Regret to Inform You …”
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A letter addressed to Marine Percy Bell, who was on Hermes. It was returned to the sender, who was apparently a family member, with the note “It is with deepest regret you are informed that the addressee is missing on active service”. Fortunately it turned out that although he was badly wounded Bell had survived Hermes’ loss.107
Note that the letter is marked “D.D.”. In the 19th century Royal Navy this meant “Discharged Dead”.    

Postmortem

There can be little doubt that the loss of Hermes and Vampire could have been avoided had Arbuthnot issued different orders on the afternoon of 8 April. Had he ordered them to sail immediately, instead of “as convenient”, and to get as far away as possible, they almost certainly would have escaped detection. 

If Hermes and Vampire had sailed by 2000, at 17 knots they could have been off Dondra Head, Ceylon’s southernmost point, by 0755, the time at which Haruna 3 sighted them off Batticaloa. Even if Hermes could not have sailed before 0100, at the same speed but eschewing all detours and delays she could still have been 110 miles from Trincomalee by 0730. This would have put her about 50 miles west-south-west of the end point of Haruna 3’s outward leg just as the E8N was turning to the northwest, and about 100 miles from the E7K on the next search line, making it highly unlikely that she may have been spotted. And for every additional knot above 17 which the two ships could have sustained their distance from the enemy floatplanes would have been greater still.
 
This is precisely what Somerville said he would have done. On 28 April, in forwarding to the Admiralty the 22 April report from Arbuthnot which is discussed below, Somerville commented that:

When I learnt that HERMES had been ordered to leave harbour prior to the attack on Trincomalee I assumed she would leave at or before sunset and proceed at maximum speed to the south and southwest. I consider that her orders to be not less than 40 miles from Trincomalee, though allowing for the possibility of fighter protection, also involved a considerable risk of detection by hostile aircraft approaching their objective. 

Events indicate that with the very limited fighter protection available it is improbable its intervention could have achieved success against so heavy a scale of attack.108

Somerville’s observation that Hermes should have been sent much further away was based on a solid understanding of carrier operations. He was not an aviator, but from June 1940 to December 1941 he had commanded Force H, which was centred on the carrier Ark Royal and sometimes included a second carrier. This gave him 18 months experience commanding what was in essence a carrier task force. (His expertise was such that when came out to Ceylon on the carrier Formidable he was able to give its air group a thorough working-up during the five week long voyage.) Arbuthnot had no such experience. After serving mainly on destroyers and cruisers, he was at the Admiralty as Fourth Sea Lord and Chief of Supplies and Transport from 1937 until April 1941, when he was given command of the East Indies station, which remained an operational backwater until after Pearl Harbor.    
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Somerville, right, and Captain LEH Maund on the flight deck of Ark Royal, October 1941109
Arbuthnot commented on the loss of Hermes and Vampire in a number of reports. In the very long report he sent to Somerville on 22 April, he alluded to Round’s sighting report and went on to say that:

This sighting report indicated that a dawn air attack on either Trincomalee or Madras was to be expected, and it was considered that, in view of the slender anti-aircraft defence of Trincomalee and the small force of fighter aircraft (11 Hurricanes), available at China Bay, important shipping should be steered close in shore well down the coast where it was hoped it would escape observation. 

Dispersal to the southward was chosen as on the previous occasion of air attack on Ceylon ships had been sent to the northward [on 4 April]. A further argument against dispersal to the northward was that the accumulation of 22 merchant vessels in Palk Straits which might already have been spotted by enemy reconnaissance machines might well attract enemy bombers in that direction.110

Arbuthnot’s explanation for his orders is worth quoting in full:

When making my decision to sail the “Hermes” and all other shipping from Trincomalee rather than leave them in harbour under the umbrella of the fighters, I had in mind :—

(а) That the experience of the raid on Colombo the previous Sunday had indicated that shipping would be the primary target.

(b) Our fighters were not in sufficient force to provide adequate protection for the shipping in harbour.

(c) H.M.S. Hermes in particular would provide a most attractive target at anchor.

(d) Evasive tactics had proved most successful at Colombo, where 48 [merchant] ships had been dispersed previous to the attack. The enemy had made no attempt to locate them.

It is deeply regretted that on this occasion the evasive tactics adopted were unsuccessful. It seems probable, however, that “Hermes” was located by a fortuitous sighting from an aircraft returning from a reconnaissance of Colombo. There is no evidence to show that a deliberate search was made for shipping. 

The circumstances which led up to the loss of H.M.S. “Hermes” and H.M.A.S. “Vampire” are clear: the responsibility for the ships being at sea in the area rests with me.111 

There are a number of problems with this account. First, the statement that there were only 11 Hurricanes at China Bay was somewhat misleading, since there were another six Hurricanes nearby at Kokkikai, as well as at least six operational Fulmars.112 Of course, 23 fighters, fewer than there had been at Colombo on 5 April, was still a small force, but on the other hand Arbuthnot later claimed (see below) that he had expected Trincomalee to be attacked by the aircraft of only a single carrier.    					
Arbuthnot’s claim that on 5 April the Japanese “made no attempt to locate” the ships dispersed from Colombo is absurd. Dorsetshire and Cornwall were among the ships hurriedly sent to sea after KdB was sighted on 4 April, but they were found by the Japanese some 300 miles southwest of Colombo, at noon on 5 April. It must have been perfectly obvious to Arbuthnot’s superiors, when they read this spurious claim, that the Japanese had indeed dispatched search aircraft to find whatever ships were in range.    

It is also untrue that Hermes was “located [at 0853] by a fortuitous sighting from an aircraft returning from a reconnaissance of Colombo”. This faulty deduction was based on the following incident also noted in Arbuthnot’s 22 April report: 

At 0155Z/9th [0755 local] Air Raid Warning “Red” was made at Colombo. This warning was due to the presence of two enemy reconnaissance aircraft possibly on P.R.U. [Photographic Reconnaissance Unit] duties and was of short duration.

In fact no enemy aircraft overflew Colombo on 9 April. Two bogies were sighted at 0755, Hurricanes were scrambled to intercept them and some anti-aircraft guns fired at them, but they proved to be friendly aircraft, a fact noted in the war diary of the anti-aircraft command at Colombo.113 It does not say much for the flow of information between the various headquarters in the Colombo area if 13 days later Arbuthnot had still not heard that this air raid warning was a false alarm. Furthermore, the sighting report HMS Anderson intercepted at 0853 was not the first one. The un-intercepted first sighting report was sent at 0755, the same time that the bogeys were sighted over Colombo. 
It was not Arbuthnot’s fault that the 0853 sighting report appeared to be the first one and it was not necessarily his fault that he did not know that the aircraft sighted over Colombo at 0755 were friendly, but the supposedly chance first sighting of Hermes at 0853 sustained him in his implausible belief that there was “no evidence to show that a deliberate search was made for shipping” and allowed him to imply that the detection of Hermes was due to bad luck rather than to a bad decision by him.   

One can also question the decision to order British Sergeant to sail, since it was empty and could not depart until it took on ballast. This delayed it until 0200, far too late for it to get to a safe distance. It should have been left in the harbour. Being empty, it represented no major threat to other ships, and as things turned out only one merchant ship was hit by the 91 B5Ns which attacked Trincomalee. 

It is hard to quarrel with the decision to send the other seven ships to sea, however. Bamora, Heron, Prome and Ting Sang were loaded with ammunition, Teviot Bank was carrying mines, and Athelstane had a full load of fuel, as Pearleaf probably did too. Of course, greater urgency was in order. They should have been ordered to sail immediately, to get as far to the south as ever they could, and to keep going until told to turn around. 

In one of his reports, Arbuthnot attempted to deflect blame for Hollyhock sailing with its Lewis guns having been removed but not yet replaced by Oerlikons. While acknowledging that he had approved the replacement of the Lewis guns by the Oerlikons and stating that the swap was not completed “in part due to a change-over of offices then in progress”, the officers in question being no doubt his subordinates, he concluded that:

I must find the late Commanding Officer, Lieutenant Commander T.E. Davies, R.N.R., who was lost in the action, primarily at fault in sailing without his main H.A. armament without at any time (that can be traced) reporting the fact to higher authority.114 

It was perverse to imply that Davies was somehow culpable for Arbuthnot’s own staff dropping the ball on this, and in any case Davies did report the fact to higher authority, according to Humby, who referred in his report to signals from Davies “requesting work may be completed before sailing”.

Turning to what happened after Haruna 3’s second sighting report was intercepted, Somerville noted in his 28 April report to the Admiralty that:

Once HERMES had been reported by enemy aircraft I consider the Commander-in-Chief, East Indies, acted correctly in ordering her to return towards the nearest protection at maximum speed since evasion in the prevailing weather conditions gave little or no prospect of success.115

In his 22 April report, Arbuthnot recounted that: 

At 0258Z/9th [actually 0253Z, or 0853 local] a Japanese aircraft report was intercepted. This signal, which was probably made by the reconnaissance aircraft returning from Colombo, was interpreted by 0330Z/9th [0930 local] and contained a sighting report of HERMES.  

Flag Officer-in-Charge, Trincomalee [Palliser] and HERMES were both informed of this sighting report and that fighters were being sent from Ratmalana at once. HERMES was ordered to proceed to Trincomalee with utmost dispatch as it was thought possible that she would have sufficient time to reach the umbrella at Trincomalee if the enemy had to be refueled on the carrier before returning to attack the HERMES. At this time, owing to the breakdown of all communications with Trincomalee, the full weight of the attack was not appreciated and it was thought that only one carrier was included in the enemy force.116

Arbuthnot’s belief that the Japanese task force had only one carrier is not consistent with 222 Group’s 
7 April assessment “that the Japanese warships operating in the Indian Ocean would rendezvous with those operating in the Bay of Bengal, and jointly attack Trincomalee”. It appears that his belief that there was only one carrier was based on the fact that this was all that Round reported. Apparently it did not occur to him that the Catalina may have not been able to see all of the enemy formation.

In a report Arbuthnot submitted on 18 June 1942, he elaborated on his April reporting:

33. Most unfortunately, two Japanese aircraft which had been reconnoitering Colombo, on their return flight sighted and reported H.M. Ships “Hermes” and “Hollyhock” and H.M.A.S. “Vampire”, which, with the tankers “British Sergeant” and “Athelstane”, had been sailed from Trincomalee before the attack and were then 70 miles south of it. The enemy’s [second] sighting report was intercepted and H.M.S. “Hermes” was ordered to Trincomalee immediately; the R.A.F. were asked to send immediate fighter support from China Bay and available Fulmars were dispatched from Ratmalana. For various reasons – air raid damage to communications and a false “red” alarm at Trincomalee – no aircraft arrived in time to help the “Hermes”, which had to face alone a most determined attack by some 60 or 70 aircraft and was sunk after a 15 minute engagement. The enemy then turned on to the other ships, the “Hollyhock”, “Vampire” and the two tankers, sinking them also. […]

34.  As the enemy carriers were 180 to 200 miles from the “Hermes”, it is deduced that the Japanese had held a complete striking force in reserve. Time would hardly have allowed for bombing up and refuelling the force which had attacked Trincomalee. However, although our fighters were not in time to assist the “Hermes”, the comparative handful which was all we had could not have availed much against the numbers employed by the Japanese.

35. The other ships which had been dispersed from Trincomalee (including H.M.S. “Teviotbank”, R.F.A. “Pearleaf” and loaded Armament Stores Issuing Ships) were not detected.117

There is more than a hint of self-justification here. Arbuthnot was apparently still unaware that the report of enemy aircraft over Colombo was known to be a false alarm, and while in April he was saying that Hermes was “probably” sighted by these non-existent aircraft, two months later he has dropped this qualifier. His unverifiable claim that Teviot Bank, Pearleaf, Prome, Heron, Bamora and Ting Sang were not detected was evidently meant to reinforce the argument that he had indeed sent all the ships far enough to the south to escape detection barring something unforeseeable such as a chance sighting by aircraft passing through on other business. In fact he had no way of knowing if these six ships had been sighted. All he knew was that they were not attacked.    

Arbuthnot is on firmer ground when he implies that it was not his fault that the fighters from China Bay and Ratmalana did not arrive in time. (He does not mention the fighters from Kokkilai.) However, the Admiralty’s Naval Air Division (DNAD) commented that it “does not entirely agree”, adding that:

With proper organization there was time to have had 14 Fulmars over HERMES. [Despite] their low performance, and the certainty that over 50% of them would have been [lost,] it is considered that they would have broken up the attack sufficiently to have given the ships at least a sporting chance.118     

It appears that the 14 Fulmars referred to here were the ones based at Ratmalana, which were ordered to head for Hermes in two waves of seven. DNAD seems to have felt that all 14 of them should have been sent at once. With the benefit of hindsight it is clear that this would have been the better course to take, but it was not so clear at the time for the people on the spot. 

The suggestion that “with proper organization” the 14 Fulmars could have arrived over Hermes in time reflects a lack of understanding of the time line. HMS Anderson did not warn that Hermes had been sighted until 0930, the first bomb was dropped at 1040, and Hermes sank at 1055. Even with perfect organization, there was simply not enough time to get the order to Ratmalana, scramble the Fulmars and have them fly the one hour flight to Hermes before it sustained fatal damage. By 0930 it was far too late for any aircraft based at Ratmalana to give Hermes, Vampire or British Sergeant “a sporting chance”. However, if the Fulmars had departed just 25 minutes earlier than they did, this being the length of the delay caused by the telephone lines to Ratmalana being down, they may have been in time to save at least one of Egusa’s three victims, especially if all 14 of them had been sent.

Barring the detection of Haruna 3 at 0755 or shortly thereafter, by lookouts aboard the two ships or by HMS Anderson intercepting that first sighting report, there is no scenario wherein any fighters based at Ratmalana could have saved Hermes, Vampire and British Sergeant once they had been spotted. However, if its Fulmars had instead been sent in pairs to patrol over Hermes from dawn onwards with the mission of shooting down Japanese scouts, it is conceivable that Haruna 3 might have been shot down before sending any sighting report, which in turn might have meant that the D3As would have remained aboard the carriers. Of course, this would require an awareness that Hermes might be detected by Japanese aircraft while loitering off Batticaloa, which, as we have seen, was entirely lacking.         

Mention should also be made of two other errors in Arbuthnot’s reports. The first is that he has British Sergeant being attacked together with Athelstane and Hollyhock. This error, and his claim that Davies never reported that his Oerlikons had not been installed, makes one wonder if Arbuthnot read Humby’s report. The second error is that he makes no mention of Norviken in any of his reports. It seems unlikely that he was unaware of her loss, since her survivors were dealt with by his staff. He probably decided to omit it on the grounds that it was not British and that it was not due to his orders that it was passing through the area. Norviken’s orders to sail from Madras to Bombay would have been issued by the Flag Officer Commanding Royal Indian Navy (FOCRIN), rather than by Arbuthnot, since she was sailing from one Indian port to another, but these seem poor excuses for not painting a full picture for his superiors.    
Japanese Missteps
While the Japanese did not waste the opportunity which arose when Arbuthnot offered Hermes to them on a silver platter, their operations were not flawless. In fact, they made two missteps which together allowed enemy fighters to shoot down four D3As.

The lesser of these missteps was the failure of the Zeros escorting Takahashi’s force to notice that Soryu’s D3As were remaining in the target area and not heading back to KdB with the other dive bombers after Hermes, Vampire and British Sergeant sank. The immediate reason for this is not known. It may be that Egusa did not use his radio to announce that he was staying behind or that the fighters and dive bombers were not on the same frequency. In any case, this misstep can probably be chalked up to the fog of war which can enshroud any operation.

The more important misstep by far was the failure to undertake a fully adequate air search. 

The biggest problem with the air search plan was the employment of four E8Ns. This obsolescent aircraft simply lacked the endurance for such a mission. To be sure, the crew of Haruna 3 did well. They sighted Hermes just when they should have, they sent timely and fairly accurate sighting reports, and they avoided being detected. However, their aircraft’s limited endurance allowed them to remain in contact for only an hour, and after they departed their targets made an unobserved reversal of course which resulted in Takahashi sighting Hermes at 1030 rather than 0950. 

It has already been noted that only one of KdB’s two E13As was employed in the search and that the other was apparently not made ready to be launched immediately and act as contact keeper if a target was found. An E13A launched as soon as Haruna 3’s 0755 sighting report was received could not have arrived on the scene before Haruna 3 departed, but would likely have found Hermes before 0950, or reported by then that Hermes was not to the south of its expected position, in which case Takahashi would have turned north rather than south.           

Minobe’s E7K, on search line 2, seems to have headed for Hermes after hearing Haruna 3’s reports. It is not known why the aircraft flying search line 3, which was closer, was not the one to do this, but Minobe probably had a still and/or newsreel camera and his purpose may have been to record the attack rather than to act as contact keeper. In any event, Minobe did not sight Hermes in time to prevent Takahashi making his fruitless and time consuming detour to the south. Furthermore, his erroneous report of a second carrier located north of Hermes led Egusa on a wild goose chase which delayed his attacks on Athelstane, Hollyhock and Norviken by at least 20 minutes. It is not clear what ship Abukuma’s crew sighted, as Teviot Bank is the only ship known to have been north of Hermes, Vampire and British Sergeant. Mistaking her for a carrier would have been a sad blunder but not one without parallel.

Nagumo would have been well advised to have employed B5Ns to fly the search lines assigned to E8Ns. The B5N2’s maximum range was more than twice that of the E8N, and its cruising speed was 40 knots better. A B5N on search line 4 would have reached the end of the outward leg just after 0700, would likely have found and reported Hermes more than 30 minutes earlier than Haruna 3 did, and would have had the endurance to maintain contact until Takahashi arrived. 

The next search launched by KdB, off Midway on the morning of 4 June, also had seven search legs, but only one of them was flown by an E8N. Four were flown by E13As, more of them being available than on 9 April, and the final two were assigned to B5Ns. The authors of Shattered Sword argue that at least three more B5Ns should have been used, to bring the number of search aircraft to 10, calling it a false economy to reserve all but two B5Ns for strike missions. “By not being willing to sacrifice a fairly marginal number of aircraft for scouting duties, [KdB] had implicitly forfeited the fleet’s ability to buy time for itself.”119 On 9 April the cost was four D3As rather than four carriers, but the observation is otherwise equally applicable.       

A Last Word

KdB’s operations on 9 April foreshadowed the Battle of Midway in a number of ways. Its early morning attack on a land target failed to knock it out, a force of enemy bombers unseen by the fighter screen made a surprise attack, and its reconnaissance plan was deficient. But KdB’s strengths were also on display on both occasions, including the great effectiveness of its dive bombers. Hermes was old and ill-defended, but it was still a notable feat that she was sunk in only 15 minutes, hit or near missed by virtually all of the 45 bombs aimed at her. Vampire was dispatched just as surely, and with the remaining 24 bombs another four ships were sunk, including two valuable tankers. Considering what just 18 dive bombers were able to do to Yorktown on 4 June, it’s easy to imagine what would have happened to her and her escorts if she had been attacked by 85 of them.  For the D3As, 9 April was indeed their “Zenith in the Indian Ocean”.
Lest We Forget
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Off Ceylon on 10 March 1961, the tenth HMS Hermes remembers the ninth. Prayers were said, one minute’s silence observed, and a memorial cross committed to the sea at the spot where the ninth Hermes was lost.120


Appendix 1 – Timeline
Sources: Except for the 4-5 April events or where indicated below, the timeline draws on information given in the text of the article.  

	Time
	Event

	4 April

	1605
	413 Squadron Catalina QL-A sights KdB approaching Ceylon from southeast

	Overnight
	Arbuthnot orders Cornwall and Dorsetshire to sail from Colombo and head southwest, orders Hermes and Vampire to sail from Trincomalee and head north.

	5 April

	0740-0820
	38 D3As, 53 B5Ns and 36 Zeros from KdB attack Colombo

	1338-1358
	53 D3As from Soryu, Hiryu and Akagi sink Cornwall and Dorsetshire southwest of Ceylon

	6 April

	2200
	Norviken sails from Madras for Bombay

	8 April

	0200

1507

1755

By 2130? 


2130
	240 Squadron Catalina BN-K takes off to fly cross over patrol east of Ceylon 

BN-K sights KdB about 475 miles southeast of Trincomalee

Arbuthnot orders Hermes and other ships at Trincomalee to sortie

Pearleaf, Prome, Bamora, Heron and Ting Sang sail

Teviot Bank sails

	9 April

	0030? 0100? 

0100

About 0200

0200

By 0430?

0530

0600

0610

0715-0820

Before 0725

0725


About 0730

0730

0755




About 0840

0843-0845


0853


About 0853?

0900



By 0930

0930

0940


0950

0953


0955


1000


About 1005?

1005


1006


1025

1030


1035

1040


1045

1050


About 1050

1055

About 1055

1100


About 1102

Before 1105?

1105

1105


1106


By 1115


1120?

About 1125


1145

1100

1150

1200


1205




1208-1218

By 1215?

About 1215

1218

1222

1300


1305-1345

1430

1500

1645

1900
	Athelstane and Hollyhock sail, head for Colombo at 9 knots

Hermes and Vampire sail, head east at 17 knots

Hermes and Vampire turn south

British Sergeant sails, heads to the south at probably 7-8 knots

Vita sails, heads for Addu Atoll

Hermes and Vampire alter course to close the 20 fathom line, reduce speed to 8 knots

KdB launches Trincomalee strike force, sends six floatplanes to fly search missions

One Fulmar arrives over Hermes and Vampire, provides escort

91 B5Ns and 41 Zeros attack Trincomalee

Hermes and Vampire turn south

Northbound Teviot Bank passes southbound Hermes and Vampire, about 65 miles from Trincomalee121

Haruna 3 reaches end of outward search leg, turns right to fly 50 mile dog leg

Fulmar escorting Hermes and Vampire departs, missing Haruna 3 by 25 minutes or less

· Air raid warning is sounded at Colombo “due to the presence of two enemy reconnaissance aircraft”. It is a false alarm. The aircraft are friendly.
· Haruna 3 sends sighting report: Enemy carrier Hermes and three destroyers 250 degrees, 155 miles from starting point.  This message is not intercepted by the British.
Air Raid Green (all clear) for Trincomalee is broadcast

D3As from Akagi, Hiryu, Shokaku and Zuikaku take off to attack Hermes. Soryu’s D3As follow at 0853.

Haruna 3 sends second message, in plain language: Enemy carrier bearing 160 degrees from Batticaloa, distance 20 nm, course n/a. This message is intercepted by the British.

Haruna 3 leaves to return to Haruna 

· Hermes and Vampire reverse course and head north, making 11 knots and zigzagging. Their turn is not seen by Haruna 3.  
· British Sergeant turns around and heads north.

British interpret Haruna 3’s transmission of 0853 as a sighting report for Hermes 

Northbound Hermes and southbound Vita pass each other

Arbuthnot warns Hermes: YOU HAVE BEEN SIGHTED BY ENEMY. A/C [aircraft] are being sent from Ratmalana now

Takahashi finds no carrier at Hermes’ anticipated position, turns south to search for it

Arbuthnot orders Hermes:  Proceed with utmost dispatch to Trincomalee.  
Hermes increases to full speed, 24 knots.

222 Group to China Bay: H.M.S. HERMES HAS BEEN LOCATED BY ENEMY 20 MILES 160 DEGREES BATTICOLOA. Render such fighter support as situation will permit.

Vampire sights southbound Norviken close inshore near Batticaloa Light. Hermes and Vampire are 10 miles offshore.122

Having flown south 40 miles, Takahashi reverses course and heads north

222 Group sends order to Ratmalana, by dispatch rider, for seven Fulmars “to leave immediately to carry out patrol over H.M.S. Hermes off BATTICOLOA”.

Arbuthnot signals Hermes: FULMAR A/C ARE BEING DISPATCHED NOW FROM TRINCO FOR YOUR ASSISTANCE123

Hermes hears Japanese voice radio traffic “fairly close” 

-    Takahashi reports sighting Hermes. This is probably the traffic heard by Hermes
-    Order sent at 1005 by 222 Group is received at Ratmalana

Takahashi orders the attack on Hermes to start

Takahashi drops the first bomb on Hermes, scoring a hit on its flight deck. The rest of Shokaku’s D3As follow him down and claim another 12 hits

Zuikaku’s D3As attack Hermes, claim 13 hits

Four Hurricanes take off from China Bay. At 1052 they are ordered to proceed to Hermes’ position

11 D3As from Hiryu and two from Akagui attack Hermes

Hermes sinks

12 D3As from Akagi and four from Hiryu attack Vampire

-    Eight Fulmars airborne from Ratmalana.
-    Three D3As from Hiryu and three from Akagi attack British Sergeant  

Vampire breaks in two, forward section sinks immediately

Abukuma’s E7K mistakenly reports the presence of a second carrier north of Hermes 

Aft section of Vampire sinks  

The D3As from Shokaku, Zuikaku, Hiryu and Akagi begin to reassemble and then head for KdB, accompanied by all nine Zeros

Air Raid Red warning at Trincomalee. It is a false alarm, but the four Hurricanes in route to Hermes’ position are recalled to China Bay.  

Soryu’s D3As head north in response to the report from Abukuma’s E7K of a second carrier in that direction124 

The six Fulmars from Kokkilai may have taken off at about this time

After flying north for more than 20 miles and finding no second carrier, Soryu’s D3As reverse course and head south

Soryu’s D3As pass over Hollyhock, flying from north to south 

British intercept a report from a Japanese aircraft claiming that Hermes had been sunk

Dispatch of second flight of Fulmars from Ratmalana is cancelled

-     Soryu’s D3As approach Hollyhock, Athelstane and Norviken from the south.  
-     Fulmars from Ratmalana cross coast 25 miles south of Batticoala, at 13,000 feet.  

-     Six D3As from Soryu attack Athelstane. Another six attack Norviken.
-     Fulmars from Ratmalana sight aircraft bombing Norviken, about five miles from the  
      coast. Four Fulmars attack these aircraft. “Hermes” (actually Athelstane) and 
      Hollyhock are then seen steering south some 10 miles off shore.

Remaining six D3As from Soryu attack Hollyhock

Norviken’s crew abandon ship. Norviken drifts north with current. 

Fulmars from Kokkilai engage D3As

Hollyhock sinks

Athelstane’s crew abandons ship, eight miles offshore

-     British Sergeant sinks off Elephant Point.
-     Vita starts picking up survivors from Hermes. 

The six surviving Fulmars from Ratmalana land at China Bay

Athelstane sinks

Teviot Bank arrives back at Trincomalee125

Vita begins to pick up Vampire’s survivors

Vita completes recovery of Vampire’s survivors, heads for Colombo  


	10 April

	By 1000

After sunset


2000

	Norviken runs aground

Locals board and loot Norviken. A fire breaks out on board the ship which continues to burn until it breaks in two and sinks on 11 April.

Vita arrives at Colombo  
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HMHS Vita served in two world wars and although our photograph shows her as Hospital
Ship No. 8 during the Second World War, she had an illustrious career in the first war too.
Completed in October 1914, she was immediately pressed into war duty, sailing from
Bombay to the Persian Gulf. She was converted into a hospital ship in 1916 and was
equipped with 475 beds. In 1940 she was converted again into a hospital ship at Bombay
and was based in Aden. She was bombed at Tobruk on 14 April 1941, being severely
damaged. She was towed to Alexandria and, with a single engine in operation, made it to
Bombay for repairs. She is shown here off Trincomalee, when she rescued crew from the
sunken aircraft carrier Hermes and destroyer Vampire in April 1942.
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Figure 210—Operating sequence of A.A.D. Wire-Barrage Rocke! Type J
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HMS Hermes, HMAS Vampire bombed by Japanese
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